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THE STANDING SENATE COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AND

CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS 

EVIDENCE

OTTAWA, Wednesday, November 25, 2009

The Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, to which was referred Bill C-15, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related and consequential amendments to other acts, met this day at 4 p.m. to give consideration to the bill.

Senator Joan Fraser (Chair) in the chair.

The Chair:  Colleagues, we are proceeding to housekeeping motions.  I believe you have all got in front of you the relevant pieces of paper.  I wonder if I could ask first for someone to move.
(French follows ‑ The Chair continuing ‑ Il est proposé que les documents suivants soient annexés aux . . .) 
 (après anglais) (président)
Il est proposé que les documents suivants soient annexés aux délibérations du comité : la réponse par écrit et les tableaux additionnels fournis par Statistique Canada pour les questions posées durant la réunion du 22 octobre 2009.

(Sen. Baker: I so move… - Présidente: It is moved by senator Baker...)

(anglais suit) 

 (Following French) 
Senator Baker:  I so moved. 

The Chair:  It is moved by Senator Baker.  All in favour?
Hon. Senators:  Agreed.
The Chair:  Opposed?  Abstentions?  Carried.
A second motion would be greatly appreciated that the following material be filed as exhibits with the clerk of the committee:  Supplementary submissions from Mark
 Mauer and Mary Price.  Shall I dispense?  
Some Hon. Senators:  Dispense. 
The Chair:  Is any senator interested in making the motion?
Senator Milne:  So moved.
The Chair:  Moved by Senator Milne.  All in favour?
Hon. Senators:  Agreed.
The Chair:  Opposed?  Abstentions?  Carried.
That concludes the housekeeping.
Now I gavel again, and the real meeting begins.
Honourable senators, I see a quorum.  Welcome to this meeting of the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs, which is continuing its study of Bill C‑15, An Act to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act and to make related and consequential amendments to other Acts.
Our first witnesses this afternoon are Mr. Howard Sapers, Correctional Investigator of Canada; and Mr. Ivan Zinger, Executive Director and General Counsel at the Office of the Correctional Investigator.
Welcome back, gentlemen.  It is not long since you were here the last time on a different bill.  We are delighted to see you among us again.  I think you will both make statements, but Mr. Sapers will begin.
Howard Sapers, Correctional Investigator of Canada, Office of the Correctional Investigator:  Thank you for inviting us back.  Good afternoon.  It is a pleasure to have a chance to address the committee as you study Bill C‑15 amendments to the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act.
I would like to take a few moments at the beginning of today's testimony to outline my concerns regarding the impacts of increases in the inmate population and issues pertaining to access to substance abuse programming in federal corrections.  I will then ask Dr. Zinger to speak about the anticipated impact of Bill C‑15 on Aboriginal people.
The mandate of my office expresses important elements of the criminal justice system: accountability, transparency and fairness.  The office reflects Canadian values of respect for the law, for human rights, and for the public's expectation that correctional staff and senior managers are accountable for the administration of law and policy on the public's behalf.  Good corrections, after all, equal public safety.
I will now turn directly to issues connected to Bill C‑15 that concern my office.  I strongly believe that evidence should guide any legislative proposal, and this is particularly important when dealing with the potential loss of liberty and its impact on public safety.  
Bill C‑15 proposes mandatory terms of imprisonment for serious drug‑related offences.  The implications are that current sentences are too short, that longer sentences increase deterrence and treatment and programs are available in prison to address offender drug-related issues.
However, there is a large body of research that points to both the lack of a deterrent effect for mandatory minimum sentences and the fact that they can lead to significant increases in the prison population with little or no positive impact on public safety.  Mandatory minimums are contrary to the notion that the punishment should fit the crime, and current conditions inside Canada's penitentiaries do not support easy access to proven correctional interventions.
If Bill C‑15 was a stand‑alone legislative proposal, the anticipated impact would be mainly limited to an increase in the provincial inmate population.  This view was offered by Mr. Don Head, Commissioner of Corrections, last week when he testified before this committee on the impact of Bill C‑15.  He indicated that the Correctional Service of Canada has been approved funding of $23 million over five years to support an increase in the case preparation workload for parole reviews and for the supervision of provincial offenders on conditional release.  He also stated that the Correctional Service does not anticipate any impact on its federal institutional count.  I have a slightly different view.
I am concerned that the actual impact of Bill C‑15 on the growth of the prison population can only be assessed when considering the many other pieces of criminal justice proposals that have recently passed or are currently before Parliament.  The cumulative and combined effect of these various legislative proposals will likely result in a significant increase in federal admissions and the length of time served.  
As I have previously indicated, my office remains concerned with the impact that a rapid influx of new admissions to federal custody will have on an already burdened correctional system.  Prison overcrowding has negative impacts on the system's ability to provide humane, safe and secure custody.  It is well documented that overcrowding in prison can lead to increased levels of tension and violence and can jeopardize the safety of staff, inmates and visitors.  
By way of example, I note that the service has recently reported that the number of non-natural caused deaths grew by 70 per cent last year.
When correctional populations significantly increase timely and comprehensive access to offender programs, treatment and meaningful employment opportunities measurably diminish, resulting in delays of safe reintegration into the community, further exacerbating both overcrowding and cost pressures.  Capacity is currently most limited at the medium security level, where the bulk of correctional programming is supposed to take place.
It bears noting that the pervasive effects of prison crowding reach far beyond the provision of a comfortable living environment for federal inmates.  It stretches the system beyond its capacity to move offenders through their correctional plans in a timely fashion.  This has negative impacts on the protection of society itself as offenders are incarcerated for a greater proportion of their sentence only to be released into the community ill prepared and then supervised for a shorter period of time.

With respect to the ability of the Correctional Service of Canada to address substance abuse issues in penitentiaries, we are encouraged by the Commissioner of Corrections' public undertaking last week to increase significantly its budget allocation for core programming, inclusive of substance abuse treatment programs.  My office has commented in the past that, in recent years, the Correctional Service has received significant funding for interdiction initiatives in an attempt to decrease the availability of drugs in federal penitentiaries.  Reducing the flow of contraband drugs into prisons is an important part of creating a safe and stable environment for both staff and inmates.  My office does not oppose these initiatives.

It is worth noting that the Correctional Service has made no recent investments to enhance its drug treatment programs or to expand its harm reduction initiatives.  The commissioner reported last week that, in 2008, the Correctional Service received $120 million in additional funding over five years to help eliminate drugs in federal institutions.  That funding was for:  an increase in drug detector dogs; an increase in the security intelligence capacity; additional security equipment, such as ion scanners and X-ray machines; enhanced perimeter security; and reinforcement of search policies to better prevent drugs from entering prisons.

None of the $120 million was directed to treatment or harm reduction initiatives.  My office believes that funding interdiction initiatives is important, but equally important is the need to bolster adequately substance abuse programs and demand reduction strategies and harm reduction initiatives.  An effective drug strategy must include both interdiction and assistance.  In my opinion, the lack of success by the Correctional Service in reducing drug use in penitentiaries can be partly attributed to this uneven strategy focused primary on interdiction.

(French follows ‑‑ Mr. Zinger – Honorables sénateurs, au Bureau de l'enquêteur…)

 (après anglais)

Ivan Zinger, directeur exécutif et avocat général, Bureau de l'enquêteur correctionnel : Honorables sénateurs, au Bureau de l'enquêteur correctionnel, nous sommes également préoccupés par les différentes répercussions qu'auront les propositions relatives aux peines minimales obligatoires sur la population croissante des Autochtones.

La surreprésentation des Autochtones dans les prisons et les pénitenciers du Canada n'est un secret pour personne : Si, à l'échelle nationale, ils représentent moins de quatre p. 100 de la population canadienne, ils constituent en revanche près de 20 p. 100 de l'ensemble de la population pénitentiaire fédérale. Chez les femmes, cette surreprésentation est encore plus prononcée, puisqu’elles représentent 33 p. 100 de la population féminine des pénitenciers fédéraux.

Il est inquiétant de constater que cette surreprésentation augmente régulièrement d'année en année. Les taux d'emprisonnement chez les Autochtones sont désormais près de neuf fois supérieurs à la moyenne nationale. Les prévisions démographiques semblent indiquer que les taux disproportionnés d'incarcération des Autochtones se maintiendront encore longtemps au cours de la prochaine décennie.

Si le service correctionnel ne contrôle pas les admissions dans les pénitenciers, il n'en a pas moins l'obligation statutaire de gérer les peines d'une façon non discriminatoire et adaptée sur le plan culturel. Les secteurs préoccupants liés aux services correctionnels pour Autochtones vont bien au‑delà de la surreprésentation. Ils exigent de prêter attention à ce qui arrive aux délinquants autochtones lorsqu'ils sont confiés aux établissements du service correctionnel.

La semaine dernière, nous avons publié un rapport indépendant commandé par le Bureau de l'enquêteur correctionnel. Ce rapport confirme que la situation des Autochtones qui purgent une peine de ressort fédéral demeure inacceptable. Intitulé : De bonnes intentions, des résultats décevants : Rapport d'étape sur les services correctionnels fédéraux pour Autochtones, le rapport illustre le fait que les résultats correctionnels pour les délinquants autochtones continuent d'accuser un retard important par rapport à ceux des autres délinquants sur presque tous les plans. En comparaison, les délinquants autochtones : sont libérés après avoir purgé une plus grande partie de leur peine; sont surreprésentés dans la population carcérale en isolement; sont souvent maintenus en incarcération jusqu’à la date d’expiration de leur mandat; présentent un taux de risques plus élevés et de besoins plus grands; et finalement sont susceptibles de commettre une nouvelle infraction et de voir leur libération conditionnelle révoquée.

Nous sommes préoccupés par le fait que le projet de loi C‑15, conjugué à d'autres propositions législatives ne fera qu'accentuer une surreprésentation des Autochtones déjà dramatique dans les établissements correctionnels du Canada.

(M. Sapers : Bill C-15 needs to be carefully understood and evaluated…)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ Mr. Zinger ‑‑ correctionels du Canada.) 

Mr. Sapers:  Bill C‑15 needs to be carefully understood and evaluated as proposed changes, in conjunction with other legislative proposals, may have significant effects on the rate, cost and distribution of incarceration in our country.  Thoughtful debate is necessary whenever the state decides to increase its ability to mandatorily deprive citizens of their liberty.  I encourage this committee to carefully review the evidence on mandatory minimum sentences and the context in which this legislation has been proposed.

Thank you again for the opportunity to meet with you this afternoon.  We welcome your questions.

The Chair:  Thank you.   

Senator Wallace:  Mr. Sapers, as you are probably aware, we have had a number of witnesses appear before us representing different interests and constituencies in relation to these drug problems.  We have had witnesses who have spoken from the perspective of law enforcement and as political leaders in their communities.  They are dealing with demands placed upon them by their citizens.  We have also heard from witnesses such as you who represent the interests of those who have run afoul of the law and find themselves either accused or convicted of an offence.

I would like to confirm my understanding that the function of your organization is to act as an ombudsman for federal offenders.  The primary function of your organization is to investigate and bring resolution to individual offender complaints.  Is that accurate?

Mr. Sapers:  The mandate of the office is in Part III of the Corrections and Custodial Release Act
.  It is clear that the office is both a mechanism to resolve individual complaints and to reflect on systematic issues that give rise to those complaints.  We do so not as advocates but as independent oversight, which is the hallmark of any good ombudsman organization.

Senator Wallace:  Surely.  However, that role is in regard to those who are incarcerated or run the risk of being incarcerated.  You are not a victims' organization.  That is the perspective you have on this bill and your comments would be in that regard.

Mr. Sapers:  Investigations initiated by my office come as a result of either a direct complaint from a serving federal offender, the family of a federal offender, the Minister of Public Safety or upon my own initiative. The complaints are investigated, first, to see whether they are founded.  If the complaint is considered founded, then my staff will issue recommendations to try to resolve those issues at the local level.  If they are not resolved, then, ultimately, those issues will be reflected in my in annual report, which is received by Parliament.

Senator Wallace:  I notice in the notes on page 3 of your presentation a statement that mandatory minimums are contrary to the notion that punishment should fit the crime.  It then continues on from there, but that statement is included in your presentation.  To put it mildly, that is a fairly broad‑sweeping statement and, I would say, a condemnation of mandatory minimums.

I would ask you if that is a fair assessment in regards to Bill C‑15.  I say that from the perspective that many of the comments we have heard from witnesses have dealt with drug use and the need for drug treatment for those who are afflicted with drug addictions.

However, the reality is that Bill C‑15, as I understand it, is focusing on the production, trafficking, importation and exportation of drugs such as cocaine, heroin, methamphetamine, and, in particular, when weapons, violence or organized crime are involved.

Would it not be appropriate for mandatory minimums – serious sentencing and serious periods of incarceration – to apply in those circumstances with drugs of that nature and involving importation, exportation and production?  Would it seem in that setting that mandatory minimums are contrary to the notion that punishment should fit the crime?  I find that hard to understand.

The Chair:  Is this a question, Senator Wallace?

Senator Wallace:  Yes, it is.

Mr. Sapers:  I will to my best to try to explain it, senator.  There are many principles enunciated for sentencing.  I will not go through them all, but the Criminal Code makes reference to different objects of sentencing.

However, proportionality and judicial discretion are features of courts in Canada.  Research has shown, and the literature reflects the research, that mandatory minimums have interfered with both the notion of proportionality and judicial discretion.  In some jurisdictions, it has led to plea bargaining and reduced charges.  Some research has even shown mandatory minimums are linked to increases in certain types of criminal activity.

The comment I shared with you in my testimony previously is simply to say that, if one of the goals is to ensure that serious crimes are addressed with the seriousness that they deserve by our courts, it is certainly far from clear that mandatory minimums will accomplish that.  In fact, there seems to be more research to support the notion that judicial discretion and the ability of the system to calibrate itself to the offences seems to be more productive in that regard.

Senator Wallace:  I am suggesting you would agree that mandatory minimums do not remove judicial discretion; it would restrict it to some extent, compared to what exists today, but it certainly does not remove it.  Between the mandatory and maximum levels, judicial discretion continues.

Mr. Sapers:  I am sorry.  I have only an almost‑flippant response, and I do not want to diminish the proceedings by sharing it.

However, I think it is clear that Parliament would impose a mandatory minimum, as it has in probably four dozen cases; I think there are lots of places in the Criminal Code where there are mandatory minimums.  Parliament puts in a mandatory minimum as an expression of Parliament's will and direction to the court.  By definition, I think that limits judicial discretion.

Senator Wallace:  Yes, it does limit it; it does not eliminate it.  That is the point.

Senator Campbell:  I really do not know where to start.

Senator Joyal:  In the beginning.

Senator Campbell:  The idea that this bill addresses serious crime is simply a myth.  This is all about political motivation.

The Chair:  Now, now.

Senator Campbell:  I will give you an example.  I greatly respect Senator Wallace.  I sit beside him every day, and try to support him.

Senator Baker:  He is a great lawyer.

Senator Campbell:  Yes, he is a great lawyer.  He included every single drug when he did the litany of minimum sentencing, except marijuana.  If he dropped marijuana, we could probably cut a deal on this thing and go home.

I do not know if you are qualified to answer my question.  I am an ex‑Mountie.  For some reason, there is an idea that ex‑Mounties always know what is happening.  I can attest that we do not.

You look at the prison system and see who is coming in and going out.  How do you rate cocaine, methamphetamine and heroin, versus marijuana?

You see the people coming in and going out.  Are there many serial marijuana killers out there?

Mr. Sapers:  Senator, I have to say I am really not in a position to reflect more broadly on this.  The individuals I am primarily interested in are those who have received a federal sentence, so they are already doing serious time for serious crimes.  Up to 80 per cent of them have a substance abuse history.

However, I am not qualified to speak about the gateway nature of one drug versus another.

Senator Campbell:  That is fine.

This is more of a question from me as a former coroner.  Could you send me the figures on the deaths in prison?  You said non‑natural deaths increased by 70 per cent last year.  Could you break it down into the five types:  Unknown, natural, accident, suicide and homicide?  I would like to take a look at that.  That is pretty unbelievable.

Mr. Sapers:  I will undertake to get you as much detail as I can.  I can tell you that number is taken from the Correctional Service of Canada departmental progress report, or DPR, which was just posted by the Treasury Board on their website in the last couple of weeks.  They show that the number of non‑natural‑caused deaths this year, as reported in last year's DPR, went from 10 to 17.  That is only a fraction of the deaths that happened in custody, however.  Those were just the non‑natural‑caused deaths.

I will further note that, in the Correctional Service of Canada's DPR, or departmental performance report, the reduction year over year of non‑natural‑caused deaths in custody was considered to be a key performance indicator.  It certainly caught our attention, as well.

Senator Campbell:  On page 8, none of the $120 million was directed to treatment or harm reduction initiatives.

Are you aware that harm reduction is not part of the government policy anymore?

Mr. Sapers:  I understand that some changes were made to the national drug strategy that removed harm reduction as a component, yes.

Senator Campbell:  As with the health ministry, it is just gone – disappeared. 

Mr. Sapers:  Our experience is that the policy is most balanced and most productive when it embraces various elements.  We have previously discussed and made specific recommendations around harm reduction in our annual reports.

Senator Campbell:  Certainly, it is not at the 85‑plus per cent that goes into interdiction.

Mr. Sapers:  We believe that there is currently not a balance in how the Correctional Service of Canada is utilizing it resources for dealing with drug issues within penitentiaries.  However, they do have a methadone maintenance program that is well entrenched in federal corrections and has proven to be successful.  The Correctional Service of Canada has not abandoned harm reduction; we would just like them to recreate some balance in their strategy. 

(French follows ‑ Senator Carignan: Je vais poser mes questions…) 

 (après anglais) 

Le sénateur Carignan : Je vais poser mes questions en français.  J’aimerais que vous utilisiez les services d’interprétation pour bien comprendre mes questions.

Je suis sénateur et je ne suis pas un expert en criminologie. Le comité reçoit une multitude de témoins et d'experts qui citent d'autres experts. À un  moment donné, il faut choisir les experts que nous allons croire et décider quelles expertises seront mises de côté.

Monsieur Sapers, dans votre présentation vous dites que vous entrevoyez une hausse notable de la population carcérale. Vous citez un corpus de recherche important qui démontre que les peines minimales obligatoires n'ont pas d'effet dissuasif et qu’elles risquent d'entraîner une hausse notable de la population carcérale. 

Suite à votre témoignage, nous entendrons un autre expert de la Société John Howard du Canada qui a déposé son mémoire. La mission de la Société John Howard du Canada est de remédier de manière efficace, juste et humaine aux causes et aux conséquences du crime. 

À la page 40 de son mémoire, la Société fait état de constats qui, selon elle, convergent sur les peines obligatoires. Parmi ces constats, on en arrive à la conclusion suivante, et je cite : 

Puisque le déclin du taux de condamnation des personnes arrêtées a tendance à contrebalancer l'augmentation du taux d'incarcération des personnes condamnées, on peut s'attendre à ce que dans l'ensemble, la probabilité que les prévenus soient incarcérés reste pratiquement la même, après la mise en vigueur des régimes d'imposition des peines plus sévères. 

Vous comprendrez que la théorie de cet expert est de dire que le durcissement des peines est inefficace et que les conséquences c’est que des gens vont dévier, que davantage de personnes subiront un procès et seront acquittées et que les procureurs de la Couronne modifieront les accusations. L’effet sera donc nul sur le plan de l'incarcération. 

Ma question est très simple. Qui dois-je croire aujourd’hui ? Vous, qui nous dites qu’il y aura une augmentation des incarcérations, ou l'expert suivant qui affirme que l'effet sera nul ?

La présidente : À quel document faites-vous référence ? Nous n'avons pas reçu le mémoire de 40 pages de la Société John Howard du Canada. Si vous citez un passage d’un document public, vous pourriez peut-être l'identifier.

Le sénateur Carignan : Je ne bénéficie pas encore des services d’un recherchiste. Ce que je reçois, je le reçois du service ici et j'ai cité un document en français intitulé : Les peines d’incarcération obligatoires pour les infractions en matière de drogue, daté du 25 décembre 2009, qui est le mémoire présenté au comité sénatorial. J’ai cité la page 40 de la version française qui est l’annexe D. 

Le président : La version anglaise est plus courte. C'est souvent le contraire qui se produit, mais cette fois-ci c’est la version anglaise qui est plus courte.

Le sénateur Carignan : Donc c’est la page 40 de la version française.

La présidente : Je dois signaler qu’il est difficile pour un témoin de commenter le témoignage d'un témoin qui n'a pas encore témoigné.

Le sénateur Carignan : Tenez pour acquis que d'autres personnes le disent. C’est pourquoi j’aimerais savoir qui dit vrai.

(M. Sapers: I am at a bit of a...)(anglais suit)

 (Following French) 

Mr. Sapers:  I am at a bit of a disadvantage as I have just been handed the John Howard document, so I am not familiar to it.  The general conclusion in the section you were referring to reads:

“all of the intended purposes of mandatory minimums can be equally or better served by guidelines without compromising crime control goals."  

Clearly there is give and take in the research as presented.

I should remind the committee that we are referring to the interaction effect between all the legislative proposals that Parliament is dealing with.  For example, the last time we appeared before this committee, we were discussing credit for time served in pre‑trial custody.  It is the cumulative impact of a number of proposals that we think will exacerbate the crowding at federal prisons.  

Individuals who may have only served time in remand or would have received shorter sentences and served them in provincial institutions will be moved into federal institutions, breaking that two‑year threshold.

I am familiar with the general research around the impacts and what some jurisdictions have found, but I cannot comment further on the John Howard material because I am not familiar with it.

The Chair:  Could you look at their material at your leisure, Mr. Sapers?  If you have the time to attend this meeting further to hear their testimony, that would be interesting.  If you then have anything to add to the answer you have just given to Senator Carignan, you could write us a letter. 

Senator Campbell:  Am I correct that the English translation is on page 32 and starts with "General Conclusion: mandatory minimums are unnecessary because"? 

Senator Joyal:  Senator Carignan was referring to article 5 above "General Conclusion."  It is on page 32 of the English version. 

The Chair:  I will close off discussion on the John Howard brief until they appear before us. 

Senator Joyal:  On that issue, Mr. Sapers, I am of the opinion, as a result of the testimony of Ms. Barr‑Telford of the Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics here on October 22, that there will be an increased number of inmates. 

If I may, I will quote the answers we got from the Canadian Centre for Justice, Mr. Grimes, who was a witness with Ms. Barr-Telford.  He answered the following:  

The
 aggravating factors we do have available within the case are whether there is a violent offence also in the case.

As you know, in the bill there are four aggravating factors, and carrying a weapon is an aggravating factor.

Mr. Grimes said:  

There
 are 1,200 such cases. Yes, we can go back and try to produce something.

That is, to project in the inmate population what impact it will have.

The 1,200 cases that Mr. Grimes has referred to
:  

. . . we could provide to the committee a table that shows how we arrived at that particular figure and whatever criteria we can place around it.

Then Ms. Barr-Telford goes on:  

What
 we can do for the committee is provide information in table format that shows the number of guilty cases, for example with a violent charge. We can also show the number of guilty cases not only with a violent or a weapons charge but with a guilty finding on a weapons or violent charge, if the committee would find that helpful.

Mr. Grimes: 

For
 those 1,200 cases, I could identify and provide a table showing the sentence as it exists now.

That is what we got.  On that basis, I cannot believe personally ‑‑ and I asked that question of Mr. Don Head last week ‑‑ with the chart we have received that I am exhibiting to you that there would not be an increase on the right corner of the chart because, of course, if you have minimum sentence you increase the level of the sentencing because you have no other choice.  The judge must apply the sentence.

The Chair:  Senator Joyal, do you mind zipping down your copy of the chart so the witnesses can see it?

Senator Joyal:  Of course.  I do not want to prolong the discussion on this, but it makes sense that if we are including four aggravating factors of carrying a weapon, being part of a criminal organization, threaten to use violence or having been convicted of a designated offence, which are the four aggravating factors, those four aggravating factors will not end up with a longer term in prison or with new inmates in prison.  Otherwise, the bill is a zero-sum game if we think that the Crown attorneys and the judges will try to find a way to bypass the implementation of this bill.  Otherwise, we are legislating for nothing if this kind of reasoning finds its application.

I have a tendency to believe that the increase of the inmate position in relation especially to this bill, Bill C‑15 ‑‑ I know we heard you on Bill C‑25 and maybe we will hear you on some other bills ‑‑ that on the whole of it, there will be an increase in the inmate population.  There is no question about it.  

The most troubling factor is when we heard from Mr. Head last week we asked him that question and we were told there was no more money for treatment in the prisons.  In other words, we will keep people longer but we will not increase the availability of treatment.  

To me it is symptomatic of a philosophy.  Let us put people in prison and what happens to them once they are there that is their problem.  That seems to me to be a very serious element contained in a bill that is supposed to release into the streets people who would have a better chance to be reintegrated and be normal citizens.

How do you see your role in the future with a higher number of inmates who will make more complaints and where you will come on an annual basis with clearer reports than the one you tabled last week in your annual report that I will put before you in a minute?

Mr. Sapers:  The risk that any legislative proposal presents to the work of my office is that that proposal will compound pre‑existing problems.  One of the major problems that the Correctional Services Canada faces right now, in my opinion, is a misalignment between the resources that are in place to deal with correctional interventions and the demand for those correctional interventions, including drug-related programming.  Any increase will make that problem more acute and I think that makes the risk higher in terms of Canadians getting full value for the money they have spent on corrections in this country.

There is either an assumption that the legislation will have a significant deterrent impact and therefore people will not engage in activities that bring them into conflict with the law, or there is an assumption that the mandatory minimum penalties are needed in terms of reinforcing a social necessity to capture and imprison more people for certain kinds of law violation.  

It is beyond my ability to test which one of those assumptions is more valid, but I can tell you that our analysis is that the cumulative impact will result in more people spending more time in federal corrections.  If that happens without an increase in capacity of the service to respond to that demand, the problems we have reported on in our annual report this year will just get worse.

Senator Joyal:  I will quote from your annual report; the one you tabled last week.  I have it here.  It has two sections I am concerned with.  It is the health service reviews and the mental health section of it.  I have the report here.  I am sure you have a copy of it with you.  Is that right, Mr. Sapers?

Mr. Sapers:  Yes.

Senator Joyal:  I will read to you what we heard last week from Professor Thomas Kerr, who is a Ph.D., Director of Urban Health Initiative, British Columbia Centre for Excellence on HIV.  I quote his brief:  

Research
 shows that the incarceration of injection drug users is a factor driving Canada's worsening HIV epidemic.  A recent study found that the number of known HIV cases in Canadian prisons has risen by 35 per cent over a five-year period.  While mandatory minimum sentences are believed to reduce risk to the public, risk for HIV infection may be increased by rising HIV prevalence among prisoners who will eventually be released back into the community.

What we are doing, in fact, by sending people who are drug addicted to prison, we give them a 25 per cent chance. 

An
 independent evaluation of this study also suggested that 21 per cent of all HIV infection among Vancouver injection drug users may have been acquired in prison.

Not only will they enter prison without HIV, there is a chance out of five that they will leave prisons with HIV and they will be back on the streets.

It seems to me that a policy, especially if I read your annual report on the health service and the need for an increased capacity of prisons to treat those inmates, that we have to be very concerned when we are increasing the levels of inmate population or keeping them for a longer period of time because what we do is increase the risk of contamination of people on the streets when they will be back on the streets.  It seems to me that there is logic in the system.  The system must remain coherent with its general objectives in pursuing the right objective of fighting drugs.  I do not think we could at the same time increase the risk of the population being contaminated.

Mr. Sapers:  It is important to note that there are a number of infectious blood-borne diseases that are present inside Canadian penitentiaries.  The HIV infection rate typically inside a penitentiary is about 10 times higher than in the community surrounding that penitentiary.  The hepatitis C rate inside federal institutions is somewhere around a third of the male population would test positive for hepatitis C.  Clearly, there is not only a prison health imperative involved, but also a public health imperative in the sense that these men and women, for the most part, will be released and will be carrying their disease with them. 

Senator Milne:  Mr. Sapers, in your opinion, will this bill be effective in targeting large-scale producers, traffickers and importers at which it is theoretically aimed or will it end up with more of the low-hanging fruit ‑‑ the people out in the street ‑‑ being scooped up?

Mr. Sapers:  Thank you for the question, but I am particularly unqualified to answer that.

Senator Milne:  What would be your recommendations for improving this bill?

Mr. Sapers:  Implicit in my prepared remarks is a question about the efficacy of a regime of mandatory minimums and whether it will address the problem.  However, that is right to the limit of the mandate of my office and responsibilities.  My primary purpose in appearing before you today is to talk about what I believe would be the impacts of the legislation, if it should be proclaimed as proposed.

Senator Milne:  Dr. Zinger, what is your impression of the impact of this legislation on the 20 per cent Aboriginal male population in prisons and the 33 per cent of women in federal prisons who are Aboriginal currently?

Mr. Zinger:  Our contention is that mandatory minimum sentences have a disproportionate impact on certain groups.  That is supported by research and experience internationally.  We could see an increase in Aboriginal offenders being captured under this particular bill.  This could be conceivable.

Senator Milne:  Does the international research let you estimate a ballpark figure at how much the rate would be increased?

Mr. Zinger:  If we look at the current impact of the criminal justice system on Aboriginal people, we know they tend to be denied bail more frequently.  They tend to serve longer times prior to conviction and admission into custody is far higher for Aboriginal people.

Mandatory sentences can be referred to as a more "blunt" instrument.  We could see that it may have a consequence on Aboriginal people.

Senator Milne:  When you were enumerating some of the issues that you discussed, you said:  "more often held to warrant expiry."  In plain English rather than "legalese," expiry means "death" or "stamped invalid."  What do you mean by warrant expiry?   

Mr. Zinger:  When a person receives a sentence, there is a warrant expiry.  That is the last possible day of the sentence.  If a person receives a three-year sentence and serves the entire three years, that is the warrant expiry date.  

Aboriginal offenders tend to serve longer times incarcerated before they are released.  More are then captured after having completed two thirds of the sentence when a statutory release kicks in.  Prior to that two-thirds cut-off, the Correctional Service of Canada can make a referral to the National Parole Board because they believe that particular individual is more likely to recidivate violently.  The National Parole Board looks at the referral and can decide to detain the prisoner beyond the two‑thirds release to the warrant expiry date.  

Aboriginals are, by far, grossly overrepresented in serving that last third of a sentence.  Many more are serving their entire sentences before being released.

Senator Milne:  Do you have any figures, rather than simply "a lot more"?  Have you any research to back this up?

Mr. Zinger:  I can provide the committee with those figures.

The Chair:  I believe they are in the report that was commissioned by your office.  If they are, we have the report and we can direct Senator Milne to the specific reference.  We can establish whether they are in the report or whether we have to ask you to send supplementary information.

Senator Watt:  I will try my best to cover an area that has been bothering me.  When we talk about numbers of Aboriginal prisoners, we are talking about Inuit, Metis and First Nations.  I will focus on something that I know a little more about, that is, the Inuit.  I will skip over the Metis and the First Nations.

I will thank the witnesses for the report that was put together.  I am beginning to go through that and I have already found something that I want to discuss, but I need more understanding of it.  Hopefully, I will have a chance to deal with it whether in committee or after we finish.  This is very important to me.

When this bill goes through, you anticipate that the numbers will increase.  From my personal knowledge, the people who are put away from the North are not necessarily criminals per se.  A number of them probably have not even lifted a finger to be picked up by police authorities.  In other words, this bill does not really focus on the North; it focuses more on the South.  Let me start by saying that.

You also indicated when we dealt with Bill C‑25 that Aboriginals will be hit hard.  You were anticipating numbers would increase.  Why is it that Aboriginal people seem to be more disadvantaged than non‑Aboriginal people in penitentiaries?  Have you a clear understanding why Aboriginals stay in prison longer?  

There seems to be no equality provided in the penitentiaries.  They must be bailed out.

Could you explain to me why they seem to be so far behind in terms of being able to access programs, why they are being denied bail and why they are staying longer?  If you have an answer, I would like hear it to get a clear indication of what the rationale is.

In your report, you spoke about holistic understanding of those people.  Is that part of the reason why they are not very well understood, in terms of the people who have to supervise them?

Mr. Sapers:  I believe you are referring to the report known as the "good intentions report," which was recently released by my office.  It goes through a series of commitments made by the Correctional Service of Canada.

It is important to note that the report analyzes the programs, plans and priorities of the Correctional Service and how they have expressed them themselves.  It then compares what the outcome has been against those plans.

We found that, as opposed to the gap in correctional outcomes between Aboriginal and non‑Aboriginal offenders becoming smaller, it has increased.  At the same time, the distribution of offenders has demonstrated a growth in the Aboriginal population in federal penitentiaries.

The report also suggests there are a number of historical and contemporary reasons for that, having to do with the life histories of many Aboriginal Canadians, their histories in their communities, as well as some current issues in terms of age distribution, birth rates and a number of other demographic factors.

I think it would take a very long time to give you a satisfactory and comprehensive answer.  However, we have seen the impact.  Again, my office is really focused on what the legal responsibility of the Correctional Service of Canada is once these men and women are in federal custody, and to determine whether that responsibility is being appropriately and fairly discharged.

We have recently reported huge questions around that, and many long‑standing gaps in the discharge of those responsibilities.

I will ask Dr. Zinger to, perhaps, supplement that answer.

Mr. Zinger:  Statistics Canada, the Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics, over the summer issued a Juristat article or report that dealt with the overall situation of Aboriginal people in relation to the criminal justice system.  One particular piece of data they did not report was the actual incarceration rate for Aboriginal versus non‑Aboriginal peoples.  I think it is an important figure that Canadians should know, especially when we talking about and trying to evaluate public policy.

The incarceration rate is a great metric because you can compare it to different jurisdictions within Canada and around the world.  The data we received show that, for the last seven years in a row, the incarceration rate per 100,000 is increasing for Aboriginals.  It creeps up every year.

If you look at the incarceration rate as a performance indicator of the health and success of our public policy dealing with economic, political or cultural issues, you have to doubt that what we are doing is achieving the level of success we could anticipate.

Bills like this particular bill may do very little to improve those kinds of statistics.  These are the kinds of issues that concern us, as an office; when we visit and look at what is happening in penitentiaries, we become concerned.  Access to programs is limited for everyone in penitentiaries, not only for Aboriginals.  However, access to programs is more important to Aboriginal people because they have higher needs.  Many of them are from residential schools, and there is a lot of social history with communities that have been impacted by historical factors.

The idea that everyone is suffering the same by having a limited number of programs in our penitentiaries is not true, because the needs of Aboriginals are greater.  Therefore, they become more impacted by a lack of access to programs and they cannot cascade to lower-security institutions and cannot reintegrate into their communities sooner.  There is a whole chain of events.

The kinds of policies, such as mandatory minimums, access to programs, risk assessment tools to establish where an individual should be placed in terms of security level seem to apply equally to everyone.  All these things look benign, but they impact differently.

These are the kinds of issues that we are raising concerns about.  Will these things aggravate and exacerbate an already bad situation, where Canada is not faring very well on these issues?  Would an incarceration rate for Aboriginal people that has increased substantially, year after year –

The Chair:  What is it now?  Do you have those numbers with you?

Mr. Zinger:  Yes.  For the fiscal year 2001‑02, it was 760 per 100,000.  The latest data from Statistics Canada for 2007‑08 is 970.  We have increased from 760 per 100,000 to 970 per 100,000.  That is really significant.  Every year, it is as linear as you can get in terms of a trend.

The Chair:  What would the incarceration rate be for the general population?

Mr. Zinger:  I should mention these figures are for adults.  For non‑Aboriginal adults, it would be 118 in 2001‑02; and for 2007‑08, it is 130.

The Chair:  Therefore, it is 970 compared to 130.

Mr. Zinger:  That is correct.

Senator Watt:  I would still like to delve into why Aboriginals are treated differently; why is there not equality?  It seems like we are outside of Canada.  Canada is supposed to represent equality in everyone's life.  What is happening here?  It is mind‑boggling.

I understand all the things that you have highlighted and outlined as to why the situation is different for Aboriginals.  However, a lot more can also be said beyond what you have said in terms of these differences.

There are reasons why a judge is empowered, from what I understand, under the Criminal Code to be able to realize the disadvantages of Aboriginal persons.  That is under sections 17 or 18
 of the Criminal Code.  That was supposed to be used for that purpose, because they are disadvantaged and lack a certain understanding, education, et cetera.

At the same time, I am not sure if section 718 of the Criminal Code will still apply after we have dealt with Bill C‑25.

The first question I asked was why are Aboriginals being treated differently?  They are human beings.  They have a constitutional right.  They are under the Charter of Rights.  Why are they being denied bail?  I want to delve into that issue.

The Chair:  Do you have answers for that set of questions?

Mr. Sapers:  Senator, we do not have the authority to study some of the fundamental questions you have asked.  The decisions in bail courts, the decisions made by Crown prosecutors, the decisions made by law enforcement all end up with people coming before the courts and some of them receiving federal sentences.  It is only when they have received federal sentences that we have turned our attention to the question of why.

We have found when we have looked at that within that subset is that there are a number of systematic barriers that have been identified in terms of security classification, penitentiary placement, program prescription, lack of cultural sensitivity to some of the screening tools, lack of cultural competence amongst some workgroups.  All of that together has culminated in these differential outcomes we are talking about.  These outcomes simply cannot be explained away by a difference in the criminal history or the type of crime for which these people are incarcerated.  There seem to be a number of other factors at play.  We have made extensive recommendations and reported on those factors.

I am afraid I am just not able to answer your broader question.

The Chair:  We will go to a second round, but I warn you, colleagues, that we have two more sets of witnesses to hear tonight and we are into overtime.  I will ask that on the second round questions be kept very tight to the extent possible, without preambles.

Senator Joyal:  I would like to propose that your report, Good Intentions, Disappointing Results:  A Progress Report on Federal Aboriginal Corrections, be appended to our proceedings of today, considering that the annual report of the officer is already in Parliament but this report is not in Parliament.

The Chair:  We can file it as an exhibit.  Do we need a motion to do that?  Do you wish to so move?

Senator Joyal:  I will move that motion.

The Chair:  All in favour?

Hon. Senators:  Agreed.

The Chair:  Done. 

Senator Joyal:  I would just like to make a proviso that with mandatory minimum sentences, section 718 of the Criminal Code does not apply to the Aboriginal people.  I want to be clear.  We had witnesses here and you have not mentioned it in your brief, but this is very important.  It means that the safety valve that section 718 gives to a judge to consider the status of Aboriginal people under special circumstances is not available with mandatory minimum sentences.  We had witnesses here who clearly said that that safely valve does not exist anymore.  It is important to mention that.

I want to quote from your report, Good Intentions, Disappointing Results:  A Progress Report on Federal Aboriginal Corrections, page 31:  

There
 is a shortage of program officers and facilitators to deliver Aboriginal specific programming.

Page 33:

There are chronic shortages in the Aboriginal correctional program delivery officers and clinical psychologist positions required to deliver core programming.  

There has been a noted shortage of program facilitators and program officers with the skill sets required to deliver Aboriginal specific programming.

Section 81 of the Canadian Correctional Services came into effect in 1992.  Some 17 years later, there are only four independent Aboriginal healing lodges in Canada.  There are no section 81 healing lodge facilities for women offenders. 

That is page 34 of your report.  Then page 35 of your report:

However, while supporting the initiative, the Office of the Correctional Investigator also feels compelled to ring the alarm.

This is you talking.

The anticipated growth in the federal Aboriginal offender population and potential shift in their geographic distribution is in the pipeline, suggesting continuing overrepresentation in correctional populations for the five years CSC planning period, from 2009‑10 to 2014‑15.

What you are telling us is that with no more money than what you have at present the situation will be more atrocious than it is already in relation to the Aboriginal population.  All the factors are there because you do not have the manpower, the experts, the facilities, or the programs.  You do not have enough resources to address the kind of backlog in which the Aboriginal population finds itself in the federal prisons.

Mr. Sapers:  On the day that report was released I did a quick census at one federal institution, Stoney Mountain Institution, which is an institution in the Prairie region that houses a fairly large Aboriginal population.  The count at 2 p.m. in the afternoon of Friday, November 13, was 526 inside Stoney Mountain Institution.  The identified Aboriginal population of those 526 was 333.  There are a range of Aboriginal specific programs offered at Stoney Mountain Institution, but on November 13, at 2 p.m. in the afternoon, of the 333 self-identified Aboriginal inmates, only 33 of them were currently in an Aboriginal specific program.  There was a wait list for the bulk of the others.

Another way of looking at it is a few months ago we did a similar exercise at the Edmonton Institution for Women, which had a count on May 5 of 125 women, 68 of whom were considered Aboriginal.  There was a wait list of core programming of 113 of the 125.  

There were 30 inmates who were wait listed at the Edmonton Institution for Women for moderate or high intensity core programs who were also past their parole eligibility dates, which meant their cases were not moving ahead to move towards integration into the community under supervision because they had not been able to get into the core programs or the programs that were prescribed for them by the correctional authorities.

This is very much a concern, and it actually reflects a fair bit of the work of our office in terms of the issues that are brought to the attention of my investigators, and that is inmates who are prepared, willing and able to engage in correctional programming, who want to take advantage of the opportunities being provided to them but cannot get into those programs.  It seems to be a particular issue, as I say, with Aboriginal offenders, if we look at Stoney Mountain as an example.

Senator Milne:  That means that at Stoney Mountain, on that particular day, one out of ten, of both male and female Aboriginal prisoners were actually in the programs where they are supposed to be?

Mr. Sapers:  First, Stoney Mountain is a male only institution, and so the identified Aboriginal population that day was 333, and 33 were in Aboriginal programs.

Senator Milne:  Where do you get the 125 out of 113?

Mr. Sapers:  I was referring to the Edmonton Institution for Women, a second institution.

The Chair:  Is Stoney Mountain maximum security?

Mr. Sapers:  It is a medium security, which is where the core programming should be available.

Senator Watt:  My next question will be more of a supplementary question to your question.  Again, why are they not accessing the programs?

Mr. Sapers:  Again, it is complex.  What we have found and tried to document in our last annual report is that there are a number of things that influence program access. It has to do with:  the availability and distribution of staff; the number of lockdowns in an institution; restrictions on inmate movement because of incompatibility within the institution such as rival gang members; other security intelligence concerns; and budgets.  We have seen in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal years where contract staff are not called back to institutions as a budget management initiative.  That means programs are not delivered or progress is interrupted until the next fiscal year.  There is simply a whole variety of reasons.

Mr. Zinger:  To add to the answer, the Correctional Service of Canada will soon release a research report they did on postponement and waivers of parole board hearings.  One finding is that offenders postpone or waive their hearings because they do not have access to programs.  That is a significant issue.  For an offender to be ready to face the parole board, they will want to have done a lot of work on their correctional plans by participating in programs.  This increases their chances of being released earlier.  This report shows that offenders are waiving their right to a parole hearing because they have not been able to access the programs they need to have a decent chance before the National Parole Board.

I would suggest that the situation for Aboriginals is probably more desperate.  Often their correctional plan, or their healing plan, requires them to have to have more programs.  They may have a combination of issues, many of which are often related to the community they come from.

The Chair:  Thank you.  With the committee's approval, I shall write to Corrections Canada to ask them to send us that report when it is made public.  Do you expect it to be soon, Dr. Zinger?

Mr. Zinger:  I believe it should be in the next month or so.

The Chair:  Thank you.  I fear it will be pertinent not only to the study of this bill, but to our work as we go forward.

Thank you very much indeed to both of you.  As usual, you have given us food for a great deal of thought, even if the news is not very cheerful.   

(French follows ‑‑ The Chair continuing ‑‑ Nous avons le grand plaisir) 

 (après anglais)(La présidente)

Nous avons le grand plaisir d’accueillir de nouveau comme témoin – bienvenue de nouveau au comité – Maître Lucie Joncas, présidente de l’Association canadienne des sociétés Elizabeth Fry, et M. Craig Jones, directeur général de la société John Howard du Canada.

(Chair : Thank you both for being here.  We are very grateful …)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French in 1730 ‑‑ The Chair ‑‑ ... société John Howard du Canada.) 

Thank you both for being here.  We are very grateful.  Colleagues, I want to warn you that Ms. Joncas has a plane to catch.  After their presentations, we really must be crisp in our questions if we want to get the maximum benefit of her time with us.

 Craig Jones, Executive Director, The John Howard Society of Canada:  Thank you for the honour of bringing this testimony before you today.  The John Howard Societies across Canada are on the front line of the criminal justice system.  As you will recall, we are committed to effective, just and humane responses to the causes and consequences of crime.

Our concern today is with Bill C‑15, which proposes mandatory minimum sentences for drug crimes.  I have been poring over the deliberations of this committee since late September, so I have a pretty good idea of what the committee has heard.  Therefore, I will not repeat what other witnesses have said.  Rather, I will try to correct some of the misinformation in the transcript given by previous witnesses.

The first point I want to make, however, is this one:  Mandatory minimum sentences cannot work as intended because they misunderstand the nature of drug use and trafficking in the context of drug prohibition.  The reason for this is straightforward:  Drug prohibition, as enacted in the National Anti‑Drug Strategy, cannot suspend the laws of supply and demand.  The National Anti‑Drug Strategy, similar to all previous attempts to make prohibition work better, reproduces this fundamental error in policy and practice.  Mandatory minimum sentences seek to make work what cannot succeed.

Quite apart from their other bad consequences for the criminal justice system, all of which you have heard discussed at length, they cannot achieve their intended effects because the structure into which they are embedded – that is, drug prohibition – does not and cannot work.

The Minister of Justice in his October 8 testimony told you:  "We are not guided by statistics."  Indeed, there is ample evidence that this is true.  Unfortunately, he is not guided by reality, either because, in the absence of aggressive demand reduction for drugs, supply suppression, which is the modus operandi of prohibition, does not work as its defenders claim.  Prohibition, even with the added features of mandatory minimum sentences, cannot suspend the laws of supply and demand.  Prohibition creates an artificially high price for drugs at the street level and, therefore, the prospect of quick profit from drug trafficking.  All of this assumes, of course, that one does not get caught.

However, even if one does get caution, the allure of quick money from trafficking draws more people into the market, a feature of drug trafficking called the "replacement effect."  When a serial rapist is taken off the streets, there is no ready replacement because there is no market demand for serial rapists.  However, when a trafficker is taken off the street, there remains a demand for drugs.  Therefore, the laws of supply and demand work to ensure that another trafficker will fill the recently‑created vacancy.

Furthermore, there is a pernicious effect of natural selection at work here, too.  As police pressure on drug traffickers increases, the market evolves according to principles of survival of the fittest.  The easy targets are picked off quickly.  They are the low‑hanging fruit.  However, the successors adapt their methods to respond to greater police pressure and this takes the form of an increase in violence.

This natural selection effect is currently at work in Mexico, and we saw an outbreak of it on the streets of Vancouver this past summer.  When police go to war with the traffickers, the traffickers go to war with each other over the diminished market share.  It is right out of first‑year economics.

The situation has become so bad in northern Mexico, for example, that American policy‑makers are talking about Mexico as a failed state.  Even the World Drug Report
 for 2009 has finally acknowledged the drugs‑crime connection, though, of course, still endorsing prohibition.

Now I would like to respond to a couple of comments on the record, starting with Mr. Plecas.  He invites you to draw conclusions that are not warranted, so it is important to correct him.  In his testimony on Thursday, November 29, he tells you that the "production of drugs in British Columbia is out of control" and that it has harmful consequences for communities and individuals.  All of that is true.

However, he never uses the word "prohibition," which is to say he assumes there is no context for drug production and the violence that is attached to it.  The fact is that British Columbia also produces a lot of wine and a lot of apples, not to mention fish and forestry products, yet there is no gang violence for market share of apples or wine.  The difference, and Mr. Plecas knows this, is the legal context in which the two markets exist.  Furthermore, he seems to fall into the trap of believing that harsher sentences will, using the minister's words, "send the right message" via mandatory minimum sentences.  However, he offers no explanation for why sending the right message has not worked in the United States.

Mr. Plecas is inviting you to draw the conclusion that prohibition can only work if only judges get tougher and sentences get harsher, yet he introduces no evidence whatsoever from any other common law jurisdiction, nor does he offer a logical reason why what has not worked elsewhere can be made to work in Canada.

Mr. Plecas does not want to talk about prohibition because then he would have to talk about how prohibition creates criminality and violence.

The Chair:  Mr. Jones, I wonder if I could ask you to avoid saying what Mr. Plecas wants or does not want.  We do not know.  You may stick to what he said.

Mr. Jones:  I do not want you to get the impression that I think we should encourage the use of drugs.  It is quite the contrary.  My point is that 101 years of trying to discourage the use of drugs through the mechanism of prohibition, which uses the criminal justice system as its first option, has failed utterly.  Mandatory minimum sentences will only incarcerate more people without having an impact on supply or demand on the streets.

If we can learn anything from the American experience with mandatory minimum penalties it is that we, too, will rapidly grow our rate of incarceration and that the majority of that growth will be people who have pre‑existing mental illness and substance abuse issues.  They will disproportionately come from minority communities, especially Aboriginal, and the effect of our growing rate of incarceration will have no consequence for changing the structure of demand and supply on the streets.

For that reason, in combination with all the other reasons you have heard for rejecting this bill, I urge this Senate committee to exercise its prerogative of sober second thought and tell the government that this strategy is bankrupt.

(French follows ‑‑ Ms. Joncas (up):  D'emblée, l'Association Canadienne...)

 (après anglais)

Lucie Joncas, présidente, Association canadienne des sociétés Elizabeth Fry : D’emblée, l'Association canadienne des sociétés Elizabeth Fry vous remercie de nous recevoir à nouveau. Nous sommes très heureux de l'opportunité que nous avons de vous faire part de nos préoccupations relativement au projet de loi C-15.

Vous connaissez l'Association canadienne des sociétés Elizabeth Fry, nous comptons 26 sociétés à travers le Canada qui viennent en aide aux femmes qui ont des difficultés avec la justice. L'association a toujours eu pour position le principe d'être pour le respect de la discrétion judiciaire, donc, inévitablement, contre les peines d'emprisonnement minimales obligatoires. 

Au cours des dernières années, nous avons assisté à une importante érosion du pouvoir discrétionnaire. Cette situation nous préoccupe beaucoup. Ces attaques répétées minent la crédibilité du système de justice et mettent en péril son bon fonctionnement.

Relativement à la situation des femmes, particulièrement, pour lesquelles nous sommes une voix, il faut voir qu'il y a une surreprésentation, et je pense que plusieurs personnes qui ont témoigné devant vous vous en ont fait part, des femmes autochtones en milieu carcéral.

Dans l’Ouest canadien, les femmes autochtones représentent 3 p. 100 de la population, mais 80 p. 100 de la population carcérale.

Nous devons nous préoccuper particulièrement de cette situation et le type de législation contenu dans le projet de loi C-15 ne fera qu’accroître cette population de façon importante.

Le milieu carcéral – on le sait -- ne convient pas aux populations autochtones. Il constitue une façon de les ostraciser davantage. Les Autochtones qui purgent des peines d'emprisonnement sont éloignés de leur milieu, n'ont pas de contact avec leurs familles et les familles n'ont pas non plus les moyens d'aller leur rendre visite. 

Si une femme autochtone est incarcérée pour des peines minimales obligatoires à Winnipeg alors qu'elle vit dans le Grand Nord, c’est évident que la réinsertion sociale sera encore plus difficile, voire impossible, n'ayant pas eu de contact avec sa famille autre que par courrier durant toute la période d'incarcération. Cette situation fait en sorte que leurs enfants souffrent également. Bref, tous ces facteurs rendent la peine beaucoup plus punitive que dans n'importe quelle autre population.

Un point qui ne semble pas avoir été soulevé devant le comité, c'est qu’on peut être trouvé coupable d'une infraction criminelle par bien des moyens autres qu’être la personne ou l’instigateur principal. L'article 21 du Code criminel prévoit qu'on peut être trouvé coupable de l'infraction principale au même titre que d'autres en omettant simplement d'accomplir quelque chose ou en faisant quelque chose dans le but d'aider ou d’encourager un tiers. Je pense que l’article 21(1)(b) est vraiment ce qui peut s'appliquer ici. Je vous donne l’exemple de la personne qui, pour 20 $ par jour, arrose des plants mais ne reçoit aucun bénéfice ou profit de cette culture et qui se verrait imposer, sans que le juge n'ait aucun pouvoir discrétionnaire, une peine minimale.

Nous devons vraiment nous préoccuper de la fin de la chaîne qui se retrouve exactement dans la même situation qu'une personne, qui, de toute façon -- on se comprend --, aurait eu une peine d'emprisonnement ferme. Je crois qu'on doit respecter le pouvoir des juges d'exercer leur juridiction, et les peines d'emprisonnement qui sont disponibles pour les juges comblent entièrement les besoins prévus.

La dernière chose que j'aimerais dire, c'est que les facteurs aggravants qu'on vous demande de considérer dans le projet de loi sont déjà prévus au Code criminel comme des facteurs aggravants, et les juges, sur une base quotidienne, les appliquent. On parle de la modification à l'article 5(3)(a), une infraction commise au profit d'une organisation criminelle ; 718(a), paragraphe 4 du Code criminel prévoit déjà que c'est un facteur aggravant et tous les autres facteurs qu'on voit ici, recours à la violence, c'est un facteur aggravant que les juges prennent en considération. Pour finir, l'utilisation d'une arme à feu fait déjà l'objet de peines minimales. 

Pour conclure, donc, je ne vois vraiment pas l'utilité de ce projet de loi, mais je vois vraiment les conséquences dramatiques qu’il pourrait provoquer entre autres sur la population que l'Association canadienne des sociétés Elizabeth Fry desserre.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup. 

Le sénateur Nolin : Maître Joncas, les témoins qui vous ont précédé nous ont parlé de la situation déplorable des Autochtones en milieu carcéral. Le pourcentage de la population carcérale autochtone comparativement à la population en général est plus qu’alarmant, c'est tout simplement honteux, d’autant plus quand on pense à la population carcérale féminine. Cependant, même si on n'adopte pas le projet de loi C‑15, on aurait encore ce résultat alarmant de surreprésentation autochtone. Moi, je suis prêt à redonner aux juges leur pouvoir discrétionnaire, je suis entièrement d'accord avec vous. D'ailleurs, la loi actuelle sur les drogues prévoit déjà qu'un juge peut mettre de côté les circonstances aggravantes s'il pense que c'est dans l'intérêt de la justice de le faire. 

Mais nous avons le projet de loi C‑15 devant nous, que fait-on avec maintenant?

Mme Joncas : Je pense qu'il ne devrait pas être approuvé. Purement et simplement.

Le sénateur Nolin : Mais aidez‑moi à trouver une solution plus réaliste.

La présidente : Auriez-vous une solution intérimaire à proposer ou des amendements, par exemple, que vous aimeriez voir ?

Mme Joncas : Je pense que l’amendement souhaitable, c'est que le juge ait toujours la possibilité, lors de l’examen des considérations spéciales, d’utiliser son pouvoir discrétionnaire subsidiaire. Le juge aurait-il accès à des lignes directrices qui lui indiqueraient que devant des circonstances particulières, une discrétion subsidiaire est applicable ?

Le sénateur Nolin : C'est là mon problème, car dans l'article 10(3) de la loi actuelle sur le contrôle des drogues, il est bien précisé que le tribunal, bien qu’il soit convaincu – et c'est quand même un test assez important — de l'existence d'une ou de plusieurs des circonstances aggravantes, peut, en autant qu'il motive sa décision, ne pas imposer une peine d'emprisonnement et, malgré cela, on a une surreprésentation autochtone en milieu carcéral.

J'ai l'impression que la solution n'est pas plus dans le projet de loi C‑15 que dans la loi actuelle, et c'est cette solution que je tente de découvrir.

Mme Joncas : Je pense sincèrement que les besoins de la population autochtone ne sont certainement pas considérés de façon adéquate tant en milieu carcéral qu'à l'extérieur en ce moment. Il y a un problème criant de pauvreté. Hier, j'étais à l'Université Mc Gill où j’écoutais des procureurs de la Couronne de la cour itinérante dans le Nord. La cour se présente à un endroit, par exemple, et s’y installe pour six heures sans connaître le milieu, face à 11 dialectes différents, sans avocat de la défense ou de la Couronne issu du milieu autochtone. Où sont les juges qui pourraient participer au cercle sentenciel? Un procureur de la Couronne se présente très candidement, « je suis l'homme blanc qui vient ici », et on se demande pourquoi il y a une difficulté à vraiment adapter notre système de justice à leur réalité ? C'est encore un peu nous et les autres. 

Enfin, une faculté de droit a finalement vu le jour dans le Nord. C'est fantastique ! On souhaite que des membres des communautés autochtones participent activement dans le système de justice. Je pense vraiment que cela favorisera la décroissance.

Le sénateur Nolin : La solution n'est pas statutaire, elle réside dans l’administration de la justice pénale?

Mme Joncas : Entre autres. Mais chaque fois qu'on revient ici pour des peines d'emprisonnement minimum, on ratisse trop large et ce sont les gens marginalisés, les minorités, entre autres, qui en paient le prix, parce que les juges, lorsque l’accusé est relié aux groupes criminalisés, lorsqu’il y a usage d’une arme à feu, lorsqu’il y a violence, imposent ces peines d’incarcération. 

On n'a pas besoin de ces projets de loi-là. Ceux que cela affecte, ce sont ceux qui normalement auraient pu bénéficier de la clémence du tribunal et qui ne pourront plus en bénéficier.

Le sénateur Nolin : Merci Madame.

La présidente : Merci sénateur Nolin.

(Chair : Honourable senators, I will remind …)(anglais suit)

 (Following French – The Chair continuing – Merci, sénateur Nolin.) 

Honourable senators, I will remind you that we will try to address questions first to Ms. Joncas and then come back to Mr. Jones.

Senator Watt:  I will once again ask the same question that I have asked previous witnesses.  I understand the numbers are increasing and I do not like what I am hearing.  There have to be solutions.  At this point, I do not think anyone has come forward with a possible solution.

Mr. Jones, why are aboriginals serving more than their counterparts?  Why are they being refused bail?

The Chair:  Is that a question for Mr. Jones?

Senator Watt:  Yes.

The Chair:  Could we hold that because Ms. Joncas has to leave?  We had agreed among senators that we would put our questions to her first and then come back to Mr. Jones with questions.

Senator Watt:  That is fine with me.

The Chair:  You can ask a question to Ms. Joncas.

Senator Watt:  Ms. Joncas, I am beginning to realize that you have a good understanding of how the North is being dealt with through what we call circuit courts that travel to isolated communities.  You were correct in that they do not stay very long in the communities.  The time to leave the community is when the aircraft is about to arrive.  

Therefore, defence lawyers do not spend enough time with their clients.  I have been told directly by offenders from time to time ‑‑ I do talk to them ‑‑ that they do not even have a say in the matter.  In other words, what normally happens is that when the prosecutor and defence arrive, the deal has already been made on the plane.  That is even before they interview the accused.  I do not think that is acceptable.

Have you any knowledge of that?

Ms. Joncas:  I have no personal knowledge on that.  

I would bring to the committee's attention that we must remember 90 per cent of criminal cases settle.  Only 10 per cent usually go to trial.  That percentage will shift dramatically if there are mandatory minimum sentences on almost every offence.  That might create more delays and potentially more Charter arguments over the right to a trial within a reasonable time.

I believe there are many more consequences to this patchwork modification of the Criminal Code without any full vision of how it will impact the population.  It will have a domino effect on the justice system.  Our jails are already very overcrowded.  Provincial institutions have no programs whatsoever.

I do not see how this will help reintegrate people.  My colleague from the Canadian Council of Criminal Defence Lawyers
 brought to this committee's attention that having access to rehabilitation centres to complete therapy successfully is very different from province to province.  Health issues are dealt with by the provinces.  They are responsible for that budget.  There is no way that they have sufficient resources to make this modification work equally across the country.  If you also look at Northern communities, there is one social worker per village.

Senator Watt:  If any.

Ms. Joncas:  How will we get offenders to rehabilitation?  There are simply no programs.

Senator Baker:  I want to ask one question to pick the brain of a brilliant lawyer.  Ms. Joncas has an excellent reputation in case law for the cases that she deals with on a continual basis.

I want to ask you ‑‑ perhaps you may not have any suggestion ‑‑ about a possible amendment to the bill in an area about which I am concerned.  Ecstasy is now listed as a Schedule I substance.  That means the maximum penalty is life imprisonment.  For example, that triggers other things like reverse bail onus and not being able to get pardoned, et cetera.

We can look at the cases of those people convicted for having only one pill.  As you know, the definition of trafficking is not only to sell, but to give, loan and so on.  Looking at the case law from this year, I see that the RCMP has regular projects ‑‑ Project Tiara, Project Temporal, Project Thirst
, et cetera.  They send officers into rave dances and convince someone to give or sell them one pill.  Once upon a time, we used to call it entrapment, but it is not entrapment anymore.  The elements have changed; I do not know why.  The attraction is in giving someone a pill of ecstasy.  In some cases, the young man is impressed with the young lady ‑‑ RCMP undercover officer ‑‑ who is well dressed for the occasion of a rave.

 I have a case here, R. v. Chu, 2009, Carswell, B.C. 644
.  I have other cases ‑‑ 10 to 13 convictions every year at the stadiums where they have these raves.  This happens across the country.  I can find the same thing in Alberta or Quebec. 

The person, in almost all of these cases, normally goes to someone else and borrows a pill in order to give it to the RCMP officer.  Since giving or loaning someone a pill is now increased to life imprisonment, how do you suggest we amend the bill to take away that particular offence?  Do we stop that by amending the definition of trafficking? 

Ms. Joncas:  I am glad you asked.  There is actually no way other than amending the definition of trafficking.  Trafficking can be passing a joint.  As you say, trafficking can be giving someone a pill.  They do not usually lend them.  They usually give them because they cannot take them back once they are taken.

Senator Baker:  No, you get arrested.

Ms. Joncas:  I see no other way than a modification to the definition of "trafficking."  

(French follows ‑‑ Senator Joyal ‑‑ Madame Joncas, je serais) 

(après anglais)

Le sénateur Joyal : Madame Joncas, je serais porté à vous demander de revenir sur la clientèle ou le type de personnes auxquelles vous portez secours. Est-ce que, parmi les femmes qui sont en prison au Canada, il y en a plusieurs qui ont été trouvées coupables de faire partie d'une organisation criminelle? Car d’après ce que le ministre nous a dit, le projet de loi doit normalement viser à trouver les gros poissons, pas le menu fretin qui fréquente les rave, comme le dit mon collègue le sénateur Baker. Il doit plutôt viser les organisations criminelles et ceux qui les dirigent.

Mme Joncas : Je dois vous dire que, selon mon expérience personnelle, j'ai représenté au moins une femme qui a été déclarée coupable d'avoir fait partie d'une organisation criminelle. C'était une dame dont le conjoint était un trafiquant, qui était atteint d'un cancer d'une forme très rare et pour qui la seule façon de traiter la douleur était de consommer de la cocaïne. Vu que son conjoint avait une organisation et qu'elle était avec lui, elle a été déclarée coupable de gangstérisme.

Je dirais que la proportion est beaucoup moindre, mais il y en a certaines. Ce qui arrive c'est que, souvent, les organisations criminelles vont choisir des gens qui n'ont aucun antécédent, qui sont blancs comme neige – sans faire de jeu de mot – et qui vont pouvoir aller faire une importation qui serait probablement ce qu'on appelle un « one shot deal ». Ce sont des gens qui ne sont pas criminalisés, qui ne frayent pas dans ce milieu mais qui ont des difficultés financières majeures, qui sont peut-être monoparentaux, et qui acceptent de se livrer à ce genre de trafic. Ils pourraient effectivement être reconnus comme ayant aidé une organisation criminelle.

Le sénateur Joyal : Dans le cas des femmes autochtones – il y a été fait référence auparavant dans les témoignages que nous avons entendus tantôt, par exemple à Edmundston qui est un centre de détention pour femmes – quel est selon vous, d'après vos études à la société Elizabeth Fry, le profil type de la femme en prison qui a fait usage des drogues – hormis celle qui pense faire un « one shot deal » qui l’aiderait supposément à régler son problème social ? Quel est le profil social de la moyenne des femmes qui sont en prison parce qu'elles ont utilisé, consommé ou vendu des drogues?

Mme Joncas : Il est certain que dans la population féminine il y a un problème criant de pauvreté et que, souvent, des infractions sont commises, comme des infractions de fraude – sur lesquelles vous allez devoir vous pencher –, des infractions liées au besoin de couvrir les besoins de base qui ne le sont pas. On a beaucoup de femmes qui sont monoparentales. Ce que je vois comme un trait commun c'est un problème de pauvreté important.

Le sénateur Joyal : La prostitution est-elle un élément, particulièrement ?

Mme Joncas : La prostitution est malheureusement une autre façon de pallier ces difficultés mais je dirais que la prostitution n'est pas la première cause d'incarcération, certainement pas au niveau fédéral. Ce sont des infractions qui restent vraiment plutôt dans les cours municipales ou dans les cours provinciales. C'est très rare, je ne me souviens pas d’avoir vu quelqu'un qui serait condamné pour cela. Ce n'est vraiment pas la population qu'on retrouve au niveau fédéral.

Le sénateur Joyal : Avez-vous une idée du nombre de femmes qui seraient emprisonnées au Canada suite à des infractions à la Loi sur les drogues? Comment est-ce que cela se répartirait entre population autochtone et non autochtone et dans quel type d'offense est-ce qu’elles se retrouveraient?

Mme Joncas : Je ne voudrais pas donner des chiffres qui ne sont pas exacts ; je n’ai pas les chiffres ici. Je dirais toutefois que les crimes économiques sont présents de façon importante chez les femmes, tels que des fraudes à l'aide sociale ou des fraudes à toutes sortes de niveaux. On pense vraiment surtout à des crimes reliés à la pauvreté.

La présidente : Merci sénateur Joyal. Je suis désolée, mais la dernière portion du temps revient au sénateur Carignan.

Le sénateur Carignan : J'ai compris que vous êtes une avocate de la défense.

Mme Joncas : Tout à fait.

Le sénateur Carignan : Pouvez-vous nous expliquer, car il est assez rare dans notre vie de tous les jours qu’on rencontre des gens qui sont accusés, constamment, tous les jours. Pour ma part, cela ne m'est jamais arrivé. Je voulais savoir quel est le pourcentage de clients que vous rencontrez qui connaissent exactement la sanction qu’ils encourent? Est-ce qu'ils le savent exactement, quand ils arrivent chez vous ? Est-ce qu’ils vous disent : je sais que si je suis reconnu coupable de cette infraction je vais être condamné à trois ans de prison – ou telle autre durée ? Combien connaissent la sanction de façon précise?

Mme Joncas : Peut-être 2 p. 100, 3 p. 100. C'est une excellente question. Les gens, quand ils nous consultent, vont nous demander « qu'est-ce qui peut m’arriver ? », mais ils n'ont aucune idée de ce qui peut leur arriver. Ils ne sont pas au courant. Un facteur qui va empêcher les gens de commettre des informations, c'est la crainte d'être intercepté ou arrêté, mais ce ne sera certainement pas la peine minimale.

Le sénateur Carignan : Cela dépend de la connaissance ; mais il y a plusieurs facteurs dans les études : la rigueur de la sanction, la promptitude de la sanction, la certitude de la sanction, la connaissance de la sanction. Donc il y a une série de facteurs. Ma question précise était que, actuellement il n'y en a pas de peine minimale en matière de trafic, il y a quelques peines minimales pour meurtre, pour quelques éléments, et je comprends qu'il y a seulement 2 p. 100 de la population actuelle, de vos clients en tout cas, si on prend cet échantillon, qui connaissent de façon précise la sanction par laquelle ils sont susceptibles d'être punis s'ils sont reconnus coupable.

Mme Joncas : Tout à fait. De façon anecdotique, il peut nous arriver dire au client « mais à quoi avez-vous pensé ? », à quoi la réponse est : « si j’avais pensé, je ne serais pas ici ».

Le sénateur Carignan : C'est le but de la sanction minimale.

Mme Joncas : Alors on se comprend, les gens ne sont pas informés de la peine. Ce qui est vraiment efficace, et les criminologues le disent, c'est d'augmenter les forces policières pour qu'il y ait une crainte d'être appréhendé immédiatement ; cela, c'est beaucoup plus efficace.

Le sénateur Carignan : Cela aussi, effectivement. Merci.

La présidente : Maître Joncas, merci beaucoup – comme toujours ! Quelqu'un va vous mener à la porte où se trouvera le transport.

(Sen. Milne: I have no questions for Mr. Jones…)(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ The Chair ‑‑ ... porte où se trouvera le transport.) 

Senator Milne:  I have no questions for Mr. Jones.  I agree with him.

Senator Nolin:  We received your text in advance and a lot of the answers were already in your text.  I do not know who is next, but I am ready to pass to my colleagues.

The Chair:  That is what happens when someone takes the trouble to produce a 40‑page brief, something we are grateful for, by the way. 

Senator Watt:  I will repeat the same question I put forward to previous witnesses.  I believe you were here at the time the previous witnesses were giving testimony.  My question is in relation to the longer sentences and being refused bail.

Could you explain that for me?

Mr. Jones:  I am happy to.  This is a very important question.  I will give you a brief answer and offer to follow up with a considerably longer answer because books have been written on this topic.

It boils down to this:  There are historical and political reasons why Aboriginal offenders are treated differently.  Those reasons amount to structural causes for discrimination.

They begin at the very beginning, with a higher incidence of things like fetal alcohol effect, untreated trauma, undiagnosed learning disabilities, inadequate schooling, inadequate nutrition and inadequate parenting.  This is a characteristic that is not unique to Aboriginal populations but is generalized across poor and marginalized populations everywhere in the world.  In this country, the majority of poor and marginalized populations are Aboriginal, and in the inner cities they are Black, Jamaican and so forth.

What happens is they come into contact with the criminal justice system and very often, despite the best efforts of the officers who first engage with them, they collide again and again with the criminal justice system and then perhaps they are detained.  The behaviour tends to escalate, particularly in regard to young boys.  As they mature into their high risk taking years, between the ages of 16 and 22, 23, 24, they begin to consume alcohol and experiment with drugs.  We know that their executive functions, i.e. the structure of their brain, are not fully developed, so they may be more reckless.  This is why young men are drafted into the military, and in the context of Aboriginal populations it is no different.

They collide with the justice system more often because ‑‑ and this is very important ‑‑ they are the low-hanging fruit.

Senator Watt:  What does that mean?

Mr. Jones:  That means they are easier to arrest, easier to prosecute, and easier to incarcerate; and because of the combination of factors relating to their upbringing and social circumstances, they are less able to advocate for themselves.

For example, where someone from my social class would be able to get bail because my mother or father would be able to put up the money for me, I would not be detained; an Aboriginal young person from northern Saskatchewan or even farther north is less able and does not have the resources to do that.  The evidence shows that if they are detained they are more likely to be convicted.  

I do not want to point the finger at any one individual, but it is the nature of the structure of historical and political discrimination against minority communities in Canada.

Once they are incarcerated, again, they are less able to advocate for themselves.  The system ‑‑ not the individuals in the system but the system itself ‑‑ tends to relegate them to the margins.  

I spent a lot of time with officials in the correctional service, and I really believe they are trying to produce the best correctional outcomes they can, but they are under‑resourced, they are overworked, they have more people than they can manage, and they cannot staff up to the level necessary to treat the people.  You heard about the long waiting lists.  It concatenates one into another to produce this outcome that is really inequitable, unjust, and about to get a lot worse as this package of criminal justice legislation rolls through and becomes law.  

That is why it is so important that I go on the historical record to say this criminal justice legislation package is a disaster for everyone, but most particularly for people who are already systematically discriminated against.  That is the short answer.

Senator Watt:  You are giving me a long list of reasons why the Aboriginals are being treated differently, but that still does not answer my question.  Why are they staying in a longer period? 

Mr. Jones:  Now we come back to the issue of self-advocacy.  My organization, as you know, represents offenders across the system and we prepare offenders for their release date, prepare them for their parole dates.  However, my organization is operating at the absolute limits of its capacity.

What happens to John Howard Society workers, when particularly good John Howard Society workers get up to the level where they are really being effective they are poached by the parole board or by CSC.  Yes, some of them will continue to advocate for early release of prisoners, and others will be diverted into programming or various other tasks.  The whole system is operating at the very limits of its capacity.

Aboriginal offenders are not at the gate, as it were, demanding to see their institutional parole officer, demanding to have access to their programs, because they have not developed a culture of self-advocacy.  That is why so few wealthy White kids go to jail.  It is because they have a culture of advocating for themselves.  Aboriginal and poor populations do not.

Senator Watt:  In other words, they do not belong there; and if they do not belong there and if they cannot be treated equally, where do we go?

Mr. Jones:  I think probably most of you understand now this now:  We have created criminality in our society through the mechanism of drug prohibition.  Many of the young persons who will be caught up in this legislation will be guilty of nothing more than self-administering a currently illicit drug.  That is a policy choice that everyone around this table has inherited from the 19th century and it is a disaster.

I was trying to think, as Ms. Joncas was talking, that mandatory minimum sentences are the equivalent to putting new propellers on the Titanic.

Senator Nolin:  There is a question to which we still have not received an answer.  I received an email from a previous witness, Ms. Laroix
.  She had accepted to look into the application of Bill C‑15 to adolescents.  Coincidentally, she is sending me an answer right now.  You mentioned and she is basically saying that because of the harshness of Bill C‑15, she does not think, if you read the adolescent‑specific section, it would not apply to them.

Mr. Jones:  That entirely depends on the discretion at the front end, does it not?

Senator Nolin:  I hate to argue with someone who is not around and we do not have the text, but it is the question of non‑violent crimes.  If it is non‑violent crime, Bill C‑15 will not apply.  Of course, someone can argue that Bill C‑15 is dealing with violent crime.  The minister said that.

Mr. Jones:  Yes.

Senator Nolin:  We heard all kinds of witnesses saying the contrary.  That is why I am asking you the question.

Mr. Jones:  Yes; thank you, senator.  We have a natural experiment to ourselves.  No one has perfected mandatory minimum sentences like the United States.  However, the effect is not what they anticipated.  The effect is a net widening.  They too initially targeted kingpins and high‑level drug dealers, but those people are particularly hard to get.  They consume a lot of police resources, they hire the best legal talent and they get off.  What happens, however, is that the net widens.  As these mandatory sentences take hold, more and more low‑level offenders get scooped up.  That has been the experience in the United States.  I have seen no one come forward to suggest that we in Canada can do it better and not replicate the mistake in the United States.

Senator Nolin:  To be fair to one of the witnesses who was defending mandatory minimums, Mr
. Plecas, who said in the U.S. it worked because they stay in prison long enough that when they come out there is no intention from them; they are too old.

Mr. Jones:  That has to be good news.  

Senator Nolin:  The witness said that. 

Mr. Jones:  They spend their best years in prison; therefore, mandatory minimum sentences work.

Senator Nolin:  You referred to Mr. Plecas in your presentation so that is why I mentioned his evidence. 

Mr. Jones:  This is the argument for incapacitation.  If we keep people in prison long enough they mature out of their criminal tendencies; but what are the social consequences of taking those people away from their families and communities?  In the United States, and particularly in Florida, where this research was first done, they discovered that in certain neighbourhoods that had excessively high rates of incarceration crime did not go down; it went up.  This whole structure of mandatory minimum sentences as crime reducing is false.  It is false according to the evidence.

The Chair:  Are you referring to a specific study?  If so, could you provide us later with the reference to it?

Mr. Jones:  I will happily do so.

Senator Campbell:  I think we have it, Madam Chair. 

The Chair:  We do have it.  Thank you very much. 

Senator Wallace:  Thank you, Mr. Jones.  I want to ensure I am clear on this.  You made a statement that drug prohibition cannot work.  I want to ensure I understand what you mean by the term, "drug prohibition."

Do you see drug prohibition as being the use of the Criminal Code – incarceration obviously being one of the consequences of that – as a tool or means of dealing with the production and trafficking of drugs in this case?  Are you saying that drug prohibition and the use of the Criminal Code sanctions do not work and have no place in dealing with drug production and trafficking?

Mr. Jones:  Let me put some history around this.  In 1908, a provision was made in the Criminal Code to respond with the use of punishment and incarceration to the use of drugs by a certain minority community in British Columbia.  That is the template for our current laws, right up to the present day.  We respond to drug use, trafficking, et cetera, with punishment first.  That is drug prohibition.

It is identical to the use of prohibition for alcohol.  The criminal justice system is the first response to the consumption, possession and trafficking of alcohol.  That is why I use the word prohibition, because drug prohibition is indistinguishable from alcohol prohibition, except that alcohol prohibition did not last.  Drug prohibition is entering its second century.

Senator Wallace:  We have had other witnesses who have said things similar to what you have just said.  Again, is it your position that we should not have criminal sanctions for the production, trafficking, importation and exportation of drugs and that, rather, it should be dealt in a regulatory manner similar to tobacco and alcohol?

Are you saying the Criminal Code should not be involved in the issues that Bill C‑15 is aiming to deal with it?

Mr. Jones:  That is exactly what I am saying.  I want to make it clear here that we have inherited a system of regulation of illicit drugs.  Regulation is just another word for management.  That regulation consists of delegating the production, distribution and consumption of illicit drugs over to the contest between cops and organized crime; we say you guys fight it out.

That is the most absurd system of regulation that we could have devised.  It has brought us to the point today where illicit drugs are cheaper, more widely available and of better purity than they were even 40 years ago.

Do you know that when Nixon declared his war on drugs in the United States, the average hit of heroin that he was concerned about was down around the level of 5 per cent purity?  Today, in Washington, D.C., a dose of heroin is up to 50 per cent purity.  That is prohibition.

Senator Wallace:  I think the objective of prohibition and the criminalization of drug production and drug trafficking has probably been to attempt to provide protection to people in our society who would not otherwise be involved with drugs.  I know a lot of the focus in this is on those involved in the drug trade and that are incarcerated, but the real objective here is to protect the public and to try to prevent as much of the public, youth in particular, from being drawn into the issues.

Do you not agree if it were not for prohibition and if the Criminal Code were no longer used as a tool in attempting to deal with drug production and trafficking, that it would lead to an increase of drug use in society?  If that is the case, how could that possibly be beneficial?

Mr. Jones:  I do not agree with that.  I think that assertion is routinely made without any evidence that there is any truth for it.  I believe you will hear either tomorrow or the next day from Glenn Greenwald
 who will talk about the situation in Portugal.  Ask him if that situation has applied there because they have decriminalized everything across the board.  The most interesting outcome, from a public health standpoint, is an upward spike in demand for treatment.  Suddenly, they have all of these resources to put into treatment because they have taken them out of enforcement.

Senator Wallace:  It is interesting you use Portugal as an example.  We have also heard the example of Sweden, where tougher means of enforcement have been used, together with more funding being applied to treatment, and they found that to result in great improvements.  There are many lessons to be learned.

Mr. Jones:  Senator, that is referred to as the "Swedish myth."  You have to see how many other ways drug problems manifest themselves in Sweden that do not make it into popular mythology. 

Senator Wallace:  Is there anything called the "Portuguese myth"? 

Mr. Jones:  I think that is a good question for Glenn Greenwald.

Senator Campbell:  I will point out that, in the interests of editorial fairness, it has been referred to as the "Swedish myth" by another witness.  It was also referred to as a failure by someone who is most certainly lacking in scientific quality but not lacking in investigative quality.  I believe it is a myth until someone who can put some science behind it appears before us.

Mr. Jones:  To be fair, Sweden is also a very different society than Canada.  It is much more homogenous than Canada and has much less poverty than Canada.  Our serious drug problems are concentrated among our poor and marginalized.  Sweden has nowhere near the composition of poverty versus wealth that Canada has.

Senator Wallace:  Would Portugal would be a better example?

Mr. Jones:  I do not know I would go that far.  The interesting thing about what happened in Portugal is the upward spike in the demand for treatment.  I think that is what you want to investigate.  The lesson from Portugal is that, when all drugs were criminalized, people had less anxiety about seeking treatment because more treatment was available.

There was a greater demand for treatment.  When demand for treatment spikes up, incidents of opportunistic or economic compulsive crime trends downward.  Unless things have changed drastically, Glenn Greenwald will tell you that all the important indicators, particularly prevalence and lifetime use, are trending downward in Portugal, and that is what we want.

Senator Wallace:  I realize my time is running long over.

The Chair:  We are far into overtime.  We still have more witnesses to hear from.

Senator Wallace:  There is one further question I would like to ask.  Mr. Jones, I have read your brief.  On page 6 is the following statement:

So discredited is the concept of mandatory minimum sentences, for drug‑related crimes in particular, that even New York State's Rockefeller Drug Laws – the template for the American experiment in mass incarceration – have been repealed.

Your brief then goes on to say:

Key to the amendments in the repeal of the Rockefeller Drug Laws is eliminating mandatory minimum sentences, precisely the opposite of what Bill C‑15 proposes to enact. . . .

You are obviously drawing a comparison between the Rockefeller Drug Laws and Bill C‑15.  It seems you are, anyway.  However, my understanding is that the Rockefeller Drug Laws instituted mandatory penalties of 15 years to life for simple possession of over four ounces of narcotics.

Is that correct?  If it is, how can that be taken as an appropriate basis on which to discredit Bill C‑15?

Mr. Jones:  I am trying to draw attention to the mechanism of mandatory minimums themselves.  I am not drawing attention to the precise, fine‑tuning details, but rather the idea that drug users and drug traffickers respond to deterrence‑based sentencing.

There is no evidence for it, and what evidence exists argues in the opposite direction.  I asked Ms. Richardson to reprint an article from Michael Tonry
, in the current issue of Crime and Justice.  If there is evidence that mandatory minimum sentences work for drug laws, why does someone not bring it forward?  Why does not the minister, of all people, place it before you?

The Chair:  I think we have a clash of titans between Senator Wallace and Mr. Jones.

Senator Wallace:  I am just being educated by Mr. Jones; not favourably, but I am being educated.

Mr. Jones:  Senator Carignan asked a question of Mr. Sapers to which Mr. Sapers was unable to respond.

The Chair:  Indeed.

Mr. Jones:  May I please correct the record on that?  

The Chair:  Yes.

Mr. Jones:  In the great natural experiment to the south, they have enacted mandatory minimum sentences for every conceivable type of crime from which they are trying to back away.  Rates of incarceration are very high and mandatory minimums do not work.  The U.S. also has the world's highest rate of incarceration.

The question is:  Why are there not even more people in the United States than they currently have?  The answer is found in the one-page document I forwarded to you called “Homeostatic Equilibrium.”  

Senator Wallace, this is something I think you should be very concerned about.  There is the tendency for criminal justice actors to subvert the intention of this legislation by negotiating closed-door deals to make more harsh the impact of minimum sentences.  We have heard a lot in this justice legislation about "truth in sentencing."  The idea, as I understand it, is that mandatory minimum sentences will bring transparency and accountability to sentencing.  The evidence from the United States is that the opposite happens.  Criminal justice actors ‑‑ prosecutors, police and judges ‑‑ preserve proportionality and fairness in sentencing, that is, they subvert the impact of mandatory minimums by negotiating closed-door bargains to reduce the impact of sentencing or by charging down so that individuals do not have to face mandatory minimum sentences.  It is the very opposite of "truth in sentencing."  I think you really need to take seriously this notion that discretion is not removed, but simply displaced.  

That is all I have to say.  Thank you very must have for your kind attention.

The Chair:  Thank you.  The article Mr. Jones asked the clerk to print out is one that we appended to our proceedings at the beginning of this evening's meeting.  It is entitled "The Mostly Unintended Effects of Mandatory Penalties:  Two Centuries of Consistent Findings" by Michael Tonry
. 

Senator Nolin:  If I understand you correctly, it would be fine if we created an amendment to bring back the discretion the judge already has under the CDSA. 

Mr. Jones:  To the extent that you can put new propellers on the Titanic.

Senator Nolin:  The only thing we can do is amend it.

Mr. Jones:  I understand that, senator.  I happen to think that our judges do a rather good job.

Senator Nolin:  Even the minister said in Bill C‑25 that he had total confidence in the judges.

Mr. Jones:  Then bringing forward legislation to limit the discretion of judges seems like a contradiction.  It does not introduce fairness or truth in sentencing.  It seems like a step backward to me.

The Chair:  I will thank Mr. Jones very much again.  We are extremely grateful to you.   

Honourable senators, we now have the privilege of welcoming as individuals John Conroy, Lawyer and Line Beauchesne, a professor at the University of Ottawa.  Representing Law Enforcement Against Prohibition, we have David Bratzer.  Welcome to you all.  Thank you for being here.  Thank you for your patience while we ran overtime with our witnesses.  We appreciate your forbearance.  

We will start with Mr. Bratzer and move along.

David Bratzer, Canadian Representative, Law Enforcement Against Prohibition:  Honourable senators, thank you for having me here today.  I am a constable with the Victoria Police Department
, but I am here representing LEAP, Law Enforcement Against Prohibition.  

LEAP is an international non-profit organization of police, judges, prosecutors and prison wardens who want to gradually legalize and regulate drugs.  I do not encourage or support drug abuse or breaking the law.  

However, after decades of heavy enforcement, we see that, in the United States, Canada and around the world, our drug laws have failed to keep illegal drugs out of the hands of our children.  I have here off duty and what I say does not represent the official views of my police department.  However, my experiences as a police officer certainly inform my testimony today.  I have been on the job for four years now.  Before that, I was a jail guard in city cells for two years.

Senator Angus:  In what city?

Mr. Bratzer:  I work with the Victoria Police Department in British Columbia.  

I am not an expert in drug policy or psychiatry, nor am I a social worker, counsellor, medical doctor or scientist.  As my colleague, Walter MacKay 
has said, if police officers are qualified to comment on anything, it lies merely in the area of arresting criminals and helping people in immediate distress.  

I have been speaking publicly about drug policy for one year now.  At the end of this year, I have come to the conclusion that Canadian law enforcement agencies are obsessed with chasing drugs.  However, our professional understanding of basic drug policy issues within law enforcement is very low.  Therefore, I urge the committee to place more weight on the testimony of real experts ‑‑ some of whom have already appeared before the committee ‑‑ rather than law enforcement officers such as myself.

Before adding new legislation, we must also consider what our current drug laws have done to the vital profession of policing.  In my experience, it has:  divided officers from the communities we serve; alienated us from young people; sent our call loads through the roof; placed huge financial strains on our budgets; and resulted in drug-related police corruption, although the overwhelming police officers are good, honourable men and women.  Sometimes officers have been injured or killed while executing our drug laws.

I have reviewed Bill C‑15 in its current form.  I consider it a small step in the wrong direction, and here are a few of my anticipated outcomes for this bill:  First and foremost, law enforcement will direct more energy into drug enforcement because it is natural for officers to focus on investigations where they perceive they will gain the greatest rewards for their efforts.  There is finite investigative capacity within Canadian law enforcement, so it matters what police officers choose to investigate.  

The creation of mandatory minimum sentences in Bill C‑15 provides incentives for police officers to investigate drug offences rather than sexual offences, bank robberies, Internet child luring, identity theft and other crimes that do not have minimum sentences.

I believe this bill will cast a wide net against marijuana growers, whether the grows are large or small, whether they are indoor or outdoor, whether there are children present, whether they are for personal use, whether there are legitimate, genuine hazards present or not.  

I believe that individuals who do not require treatment will seek treatment through a drug treatment court program simply in order to avoid the mandatory minimum sentence.  This will reduce opportunities for those who do genuinely want and need treatment.

I believe that provisions regarding criminal organizations will be difficult to prosecute and rarely used, owing to the inherent difficulty of proving the existence of an organized crime group in a court of law.  I believe this bill will drive more drugs into the hands of youth by encouraging adults to recruit young people as drug dealers.  

In my job, I routinely see young people caught selling cocaine and other drugs in the worst parts of my city.  The penalties for young people caught selling drugs are rightfully less severe than for adults.  Therefore, this bill will likely encourage dealers to approach vulnerable teenagers and manipulate them into the drug trade.  

I know this bill has provisions for people who use the services of minors in the commission of an offence, but let us be honest, how will we prosecute those people?  Will you take a 16‑year‑old Aboriginal kid, who grew up in some housing project, ask him to get on the witness stand and testify against a mid‑level drug dealer?  Even if you can get this young person to agree, once he does testify it seems to me you are essentially putting that person in danger.  You are basically signing their death warrant.

I believe traffickers who are victims of drug rifts and home invasions will be less likely to call the police knowing they may face a mandatory minimum sentence.  This is important because they will be more likely to take retaliation into their own hands, resulting in spiraling violence and bloodshed across Canada.  

I believe that the brightest and most cunning drug dealers will enter into relationships with law enforcement agencies as confidential informants.  They will use this legislation to imprison their competition and strengthen their own positions within the black market.

Lastly, and perhaps most important, I believe that the flow of illegal drugs to Canadian consumers will not stop and the black market will continue to lack regulations controlling price, purity, safety and access.  

My views on this bill are simple.  Bill C‑15 is incompatible with law enforcement against prohibition's position on drug policy and, frankly, there is no way to reconcile the two views.

However, if some form of this bill is going to pass, I would encourage you to strengthen the reporting provision.  As you know, section 4 of Bill C‑15 introduces a provision that requires a review of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act after two years, as well as a report to Parliament.  

Two years is a long time in politics but it is a short time in the criminal justice system.  By the end of the first two years, the effects of Bill C‑15 will not be clear.  Some criminal trials will not even be completed.  Many mandatory minimum sentences will have begun but not ended.  New prisons will not be built yet.  We will not have a good idea of the true costs involved nor of the impact, if any, on cross-border smuggling, crime rates, drug use rates, overdose rates or any of the other issues this legislation may affect.

The numbers at the end of the first two years may be deceptively low.  It therefore may be valuable for law makers to consider additional reviews and reports at the four-year mark, the seven-year mark and the ten-year mark, for a total monitoring period of ten years.  

Honourable senators, thank you for your time.

The Chair:  Thank you very much, Mr. Bratzer.  Next is Professor Beauchesne.

(French follows ‑ Ms. Beauchesne: Le projet de loi C-15 s'inscrit…) 

 (après anglais)

Line Beauchesne, professeure, Université d'Ottawa, à titre personnel : Le projet de loi C-15 s'inscrit dans cette volonté de privilégier la répression comme stratégie de lutte contre les drogues, stratégie rentable politiquement mais parfaitement inutile tant pour diminuer le marché des drogues que les usages problématiques qu'on pourrait développer avec celles-ci.

Dans cette présentation, j'attirerai l'attention plus particulièrement sur l'usage et le marché des drogues en prison, de même que de la violence issue de ce marché, tant pour les détenus que pour le personnel travaillant en milieu carcéral que les visiteurs. Le projet de loi C-15 ne viendrait que faire empirer cette situation. 

En 1994, le rapport Cain – J.V. Cain étant à l’époque le coroner en chef de la Colombie-Britannique chargé d'enquêter sur la montée d'overdoses mortelles d'héroïne dans cette province – reconnaît que pour une majorité de gens, les problèmes liés aux drogues illicites doivent avant tout relever de la police et des tribunaux. Cette perception des gens repose sur deux croyances, explique-t-il. Premièrement que la prison est un bon moyen d'éliminer ces problèmes ; deuxièmement que la peur des peines est un bon moyen de dissuasion. 

Il explique dans son rapport que ces croyances sont erronées. D'une part, les drogues sont aisément accessibles en prison et certains détenus ont même commencé leur usage des drogues dures à l'intérieur des murs. D'autre part, l'environnement carcéral conduit davantage à l'exclusion qu'à l'intégration sociale. C'est pourquoi la prison ne constitue ni un lieu d'élimination des problèmes de drogue, ni un moyen de dissuasion efficace. Non seulement cela, nos prisons facilitent les contacts personnels des détenus avec des membres de réseaux de vendeurs, relations qui se poursuivront pour plusieurs après leur sortie, ne serait-ce que pour payer leurs dettes de drogue. 

Ces conclusions de M. Cain sont encore valables aujourd'hui. 

Pourquoi tant de drogue en prison? Les conditions de vie en prison stimulent cette consommation. De plus, on emprisonne des usagers qui continuent de consommer et des trafiquants qui continuent de vendre et veulent accroître leur marché, trafiquants ayant conservé de nombreux contacts à l'extérieur. Le résultat, et je vais citer une recherche importante de Brochu
 qui, depuis plusieurs années a étudié la question : 

« Plus de la moitié des détenus consomment des drogues durant leur séjour en détention. Le plus souvent, il s'agit de cannabis, mais les opiacés sont également utilisés, laissant présager le partage de seringues souillées lorsque les autorités pénitentiaires ne permettent pas l'accès à du matériel stérilisé. Les dettes de drogue contractées par les toxicomanes intensifient la violence déjà bien ancrée dans ces milieux. Tout ceci ne fait qu'accroître les difficultés de gestion pénitentiaire. La prison ne semble pas outillée pour freiner ou même ralentir la trajectoire toxicomane. »

Signe de l'importance de la consommation de drogue dans les prisons fédérales, en février 2000, le Service correctionnel canadien a entrepris la mise en place de cinq unités sans drogue dans ses pénitenciers, soit une par région administrative au Canada.

Malgré le fait que le Service correctionnel canadien utilise un grand nombre de techniques de détection pour que ces unités demeurent sans drogue, 10 p. 100 de ceux qui y ont séjourné furent renvoyés pour possession de substances ou autres objets interdits liés aux drogues. Quel est alors le but de l'enfermement de vendeurs ou d’usagers de drogue quand la prison est un lieu de consommation et que cette situation risque d'accroître la criminalité, car des usagers, à leur sortie, risquent de devoir rentrer ou se maintenir dans la délinquance pour régler leurs dettes de drogue ?

Le but est de soutenir la logique de la prohibition qui encourage l'arrestation de gens qui consomment des drogues illicites. À cette fin, l'usage de tests de drogues pour préserver l’image de prisons sans drogue est apparu impératif au système correctionnel canadien. Il les utilise abondamment, et ce, surtout depuis la promulgation de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition en 1992.

En effet, en 1992, le nombre de prises d'échantillons d'urine s'élevait à environ 250 par mois. En 1997, il était passé à 3700 par mois. Je n'ai malheureusement pas les chiffres récents, mais ce que je veux souligner ici, c’est qu'en dehors de la marijuana, qui peut être détectée jusqu'à 80 jours après son usage selon le rythme plus ou moins fréquent de consommation, les autres drogues ne peuvent être détectées que quelques heures à quelques jours après leur consommation. Les détenus le savent, mais le système correctionnel canadien, apparemment, qui se serre de ces tests pour tracer un portrait de sa clientèle d'usager, ne le sait pas. C'est ainsi qu'il affirme que le résultat des tests de drogue prouve que la grande majorité des personnes qui purgent une peine fédérale ne consomment pas d'alcool ou de drogue de façon active.

Plusieurs détenus, malgré ces tests, maintiennent leur consommation de marijuana parce que c'est un relaxant. Toutefois, certains modifient leur consommation considérant les conséquences qu'entraînent des tests positifs et le fait qu'ils se soient grandement multipliés ces dernières années. 

Je peux citer les conséquences. Le délinquant dont l'échantillon est positif peut être accusé d'avoir commis une infraction disciplinaire, celle d'avoir consommé une substance intoxiquante. Il est passible d'une ou de plusieurs des peines suivantes : avertissement ou réprimande, perte des privilèges, amende, travaux supplémentaires, isolement.

De plus, il peut être tenu de fournir un échantillon d'urine tous les mois, jusqu'à ce que les résultats soient négatifs trois fois de suite. Il peut aussi faire l'objet d'une sanction administrative : transfert dans un établissement à un niveau de sécurité supérieur, annulation des permissions de sortie, renvoi à un programme pour toxicomanes.

Cette modification de consommation chez certains détenus signifie non pas l'arrêt de l'usage, mais le changement de drogue utilisée, souvent remplacée par d'autres plus coûteuses et avec des modes de consommation plus à risque, surtout vers l'héroïne qui demeure détectable environ 24 heures.

L’augmentation de l'utilisation de drogue par injection accroît le chantage et la violence chez les détenus pour obtenir la drogue et payer leurs dettes. Elle accroît également les risques de violence chez les membres du personnel et les visiteurs. Le marché des drogues par injection, depuis longtemps, n'est plus artisanal et bénéficie de moyens puissants -- financiers ou autres -- pour convaincre les plus réticents de participer à ce marché.

Il ne faut pas croire que l'ensemble des détenus testés positifs sont en prison pour délit de drogue. En fait, plusieurs ont commencé leur consommation régulière de drogue en prison ou encore s'y sont initiés à l'injection. Les techniques d'injection en dedans sont à haut risque d'infection. Les conséquences encourues pour consommation de drogue sont toujours là, malgré la disponibilité de nettoyer les seringues. Ainsi, le détenu est invité à nettoyer une seringue qu'il n'est pas censé utiliser. Ces conditions d'injection sont une source de l'expansion du sida et de l'hépatite C, non seulement chez les détenus, mais dans la population à leur sortie. Cette situation est désastreuse sur le plan salutaire.

En somme, accroître les peines d'enfermement de vendeurs de drogue dans les prisons avec le projet de loi C-15 ne fera qu'accentuer la force et la violence du marché à l'intérieur des murs et ce, non seulement au détriment des détenus, mais également du personnel et des visiteurs, considérant que les liens de certains vendeurs avec des réseaux plus puissants pourront augmenter la menace de chantage contre eux pour maintenir et accroître ce marché. Car, effectivement, les acteurs les plus puissants de ce marché seront toujours à l'extérieur, projet de loi C‑15 ou pas.

(John Conroy, Lawyer, as an individual:    I have been practising criminal law…)(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ Ms. Beauchesne ‑‑ ... l'extérieur, projet de loi C‑15 ou pas.) 

John Conroy, Lawyer, as an individual:    I have been practising criminal law – and, since 1982, constitutional law – in the Fraser Valley, in Abbotsford, which I hear is the murder capital, and maybe the gang capital, of Canada.  That is what the media says, anyway.  I, personally, have not had any problems walking around Abbotsford over the last 30‑odd years.

However, the gangs and events that have been happening could be attributed to drug prohibition.  I would adopt everything that Mr. Jones told you earlier, as well as what Mr. Bratzer, a police offer, told you.

In the Valley, as you probably all know, I am surrounded by federal and provincial prisons, though not as many provincial prisons as there used to be.  I think they gutted them and more people now end up in the federal system than ever before.  I appear in the criminal courts throughout the Valley and in Vancouver, and I also appear before the National Parole Board.  I used to appear before the B.C. Board of Parole before they abolished it, causing all kinds of additional problems in relation to conditional release, certainly in relation to provincial prisoners.

I did try to send something to you, but apparently it was too big and it bounced back.  I am fortunate that you do not have anything in front of you so as to pick on a particular part that I might have said.

The first thing I had sent to you was a curriculum vitae so you would know what my experience is.  I chaired a committee on corrections and institutions for the B.C. branch of the bar way back in 1983, I think it was.

For many years, I was chair of a task force on imprisonment and release, which became a committee on imprisonment and release for the Canadian Bar Association.  In that capacity, I appeared before many parliamentary committees and Senate committees in the 1980s and early 1990s.  Many of these same issues were brought up then.

Consistent with my family Irish motto, History cannot be denied, I thought I should send to you much of the work that was done before by earlier parliamentary committees and Senate committees that dealt with this issue.  I am surprised at some of the questions I have heard while sitting here, and thought that many of you might not have seen some of these materials before.

I have included the Canadian Sentencing Commission report, Archambault
, for example.  I do not know if you knew that Archambault not only wrote about sentencing, generally, but also about mandatory minimum sentences.  There is a whole chapter on mandatory minimum sentences, and it points out that every royal commission in the previous 35 years opposed mandatory minimum sentences.

We are now another 22 years since that report of the Canadian Sentencing Commission.  I have not seen anything that supports mandatory minimum sentences being an effective penal tool.

This whole time that I have been practising, I have to agree with what other witnesses have said.  I have become busier and busier with this prohibitionist type of an approach.  No matter what you do, from an economic point of view, this will benefit me and other lawyers; you will make us busier.

A member of the Reform Party said to me years ago when I appeared:  If he had his druthers, they would make alcohol illegal, again, too.  I told him if he did that, he would make me very rich and I would look forward to the day he did that.

I say that because, in my view, what is happening here is all perception; none of it is reality.  There are all sorts of things that have been written about this.  One of the better ones is an article, funded by Health Canada, by the Canadian Centre for Substance Abuse
, called Comparing the Perceived Seriousness and Actual Costs of Substance Abuse
.

I have sent that – or I will re‑send that – so that you have the benefit of it.  I urge you to read this particular article, as well as the chapter from the Sentencing Commission on public knowledge of sentencing.  I say that because I hear it is believed that by doing this, people will get a message, be deterred, stop dealing and so on.

The Canadian Sentencing Commission material from back in 1987 points out that most people do not have a clue what you are doing.  Most of them get their information from the media.  The media inevitably, because of what it is, reports unusual and exceptional cases.  They do not report routine, mundane cases, which we deal with on a daily basis in the criminal courts.

The public builds its view of criminal justice on unusual and exceptional cases.  The whole foundation for the public's view is distorted and does not deal with ordinary, everyday cases.

They lobby their politicians, and the politicians, concerned about votes, scurry to pass these types of bills.  It seems that occurs without much consultation before they put the bill forward at the outset.  A lot of consultation happens afterwards so that it can be said that everyone has been consulted before passing the bill.

I want to take you quickly to a Canadian substance abuse document that compares perceived seriousness.  There are some nice graphs in this document, and  it talks about how we amplify our perspectives on illicit drugs because many of us are neither familiar with them nor in control of them.  They are distant from us.  We attenuate our knowledge in terms of the drugs we are familiar with, like alcohol.

The graphs here first show perceived seriousness of substance abuse in Canada.  As you might expect, it shows alcohol way down here, illicit drugs about the middle, and injection drug use way up at the top.  It shows that it is consistent Canada‑wide, province‑wide, and city‑wide.  The further away it is, it seems, the more concerned people are about the drug use.

If you look at “the direct social costs of alcohol, illicit drugs and cannabis in Canada” ‑‑ and this was all government funded and done by experts ‑‑ you will see that the graph in terms of alcohol is almost through the roof; that the graph in terms of illicit drugs is substantially lower; and when you look at marijuana, you can hardly see it on the scale in terms of health care and enforcement costs, and so on.

The findings are as follows:  Total direct social costs associated with alcohol, $7.4 million, more than double those for all illicit drugs combined; direct alcohol‑related health care costs, $3.3 million. That is nearly three times as high as for all illicit drugs, excluding cannabis; over 45 times higher than the direct health care costs of cannabis and the annual direct costs of health care; and 31 times higher than the annual direct courses of enforcement, which is about $5.4 million, 36 times higher than the annual cost of prevention and research.  Most of the money that you are putting there is into enforcement.  I have not seen much change in my practice as a result of this particular approach.

I should stop there, though.  You have probably heard in this committee about the bylaws that are the new trend, at least in British Columbia.  Many of these towns and cities have come up with Controlled Drugs and Substances Act bylaws.  They now call them public safety bylaws.  They passed legislation there that if you have high hydro usage, they report it to the municipalities and knock on your door and put a 24‑hour notice on it stating that they will come and inspect.  They then come with a hooch team that was like a SWAT team.  The courts have stopped the police now; the police have to stay at the end of the driveway.  They come and basically go through that your house looking for a grow op.  They look in drawers and cupboards.  They look all over the place for these grow ops.  If they find a little thing here and there, you get fined $5,000 for the privilege of having this inspection.  You then have to redo your drapes and curtains, fumigate your house and all these sorts of things.  They do not charge them.  That is the only thing that has been limiting the amount of grow‑op cases that I have been getting.  It is only when the police charge that I get a case and can argue search and seizure, and so on.  That is this civil, non‑criminal approach being taken in British Columbia which, apparently, has been quite successful compared to the criminal approach.

As I see this bill, as a lawyer, the bells go off because I see all kinds of overlap that will fuel my case when I take it to challenge the constitutionality of the bylaws as invading the criminal law power because you have occupied the field so well, and, by this bill, will occupy the field almost specifically to overlap with some of those bylaws, which will provide me with evidence to take that case in order to challenge the bylaws.

Please also look at the chapter from the sentencing commission on public knowledge of sentencing, because that is very important.  If you really think that you are sending a message, this chapter points out that it is just not the case.  Most people do not know what is going on in this sort of area and do not react in relation to it.

The chapter on mandatory minimums makes it clear that, sure, you do not affect the judicial discretion in relation to serious cases, because serious cases get more time than what you are providing for in your mandatory cases, from the current judges today.  Again, as others have said, I do not know where this notion comes that the judges are soft or that they are not doing what they are supposed to be doing.  That is certainly not my experience.  It points out that you catch the lowest person ‑‑ that is, the person who is just on that borderline of being a serious offender.  The judge's discretion is taken away there.  Where he or she most needs the discretion, that is where you remove it.

Last week, I was in Nelson, British Columbia.  Nelson, as you may know, is considered the marijuana capital of British Columbia, at least by the news media; I am sure it is not considered that by others.  Many people in Nelson are reported to have been in the marijuana industry and are in the marijuana industry.  I had a man who was busted for 300 plants, 150 small ones, clones ‑‑ I am sure you have heard of that ‑‑ and 150 two‑footers.  He was charged, as usual, with production and possession for the purpose of trafficking.  The main police officer got ill, so there was a one‑year delay as a result of the officer getting ill.  In the meantime, he managed to get his business together, which was building custom motorcycles.  He managed to get his son over from Scotland and get him in an apprenticeship position and to start going to school.  He was working everything out and doing very positive things.

His lawyer had recommended that he go to trial.  He asked for a second opinion.  He came to me.  I looked at it and said:  "No, I do not think a judge will toss this out.  I think you will be convicted."  He accepted my opinion, so we pled guilty to the production count.

If this law were in place, the judge would have had to sentence him to time inside.  The two years of his reformation and rehabilitation that had gone on ‑‑ that is, getting a job, getting a business, getting customers, clients, and so on ‑‑ all of that, would be disrupted and he would end up in a prison.  The whole thing would fall apart.  His son would have had to go back to Scotland.  All of the good work that was done between the date of the offence and the date of the sentencing would be undone.

That is the type of injustice that you will create by having these types of mandatory minimum sentences.

Senator Campbell:  What did he get? 

Mr. Conroy:  He got a 12‑month conditional sentence order, the first six months of which is complete house arrest.  He is only allowed out for work and medical purposes and things like that.  The next three months after the first six months is still house arrest, but with a curfew from, if my memory serves, 6 p.m. to 6 a.m. he has to be in his house and then more relaxed for the last part.  We try to structure the conditional sentences similar to a sentence of imprisonment:  One third, one third, one third.  That is, some of us do; I do not think that is common across the country.

A conditional sentence is a sentence of imprisonment.  I should add that the conditional sentence came about as a result of all of this stuff we did back in the 1980s and 1990s.  First there was the sentencing commission, and then the Dobney committee.  For the Dobney committee, was not that a Conservative government at the time?  That was August of 1988.  As I look through it, I see a picture there of Robert Nicholson, PC, Niagara Falls, deputy chairman of that committee.  That is the current Minister of Justice; am I right?

This report, which followed on the sentencing commission report which said no mandatory minimums, also said no mandatory minimums.  There is an exception, of course, for murder and high treason.  We have had mandatory minimum life sentences for those sentences forever.  Someone suggested we have lots of other mandatory minimum sentences.  We do not.  We have created a few firearms ones recently.  We have them for second and third impaired driving offences.  We do not have any mandatory minimum sentences for sex assault or serious offences.

For some reason, you want to have mandatory minimums for non‑violent offences.  I have heard the argument about potential for violence that comes up all the time before the parole boards.  Parole boards are always trying to turn Schedule II offences, non‑violent offences, into Schedule I offences because they say there is the potential for violence.  Of course, the potential for violence is there because you are using prohibition.  

What do you expect them to do?  They cannot come to lawyers or go to the courts to resolve their contractual business disputes peacefully.  They have to shoot each other and beat each other up because they are operating in a black market.  When you operate in a black market, that is what people do.  If I ripped you off for a few hundred thousand dollars and you could not go to judges and lawyers, what would you do?  You send them to prison.

What happens when they get to prison?  They form gangs in prison.  They become better gang members in prison.  They are released and have a number of people in prison and out of prison to operate the continuing business.  That is what I have seen in my years of experience. 

The Chair:  You are obviously steeped in this, Mr. Conroy.  I know you could testify for the next four hours and not scrape the surface of all that you know.  We do not have a lot of time.

Mr. Conroy:  I have gone through all of this.  I have made submissions for years.  I have seen what the Corrections and Conditional Release Act currently says, which is a product of all these things.  I have seen what the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act says, which is a product of all this past work.  I have seen what Part 24 of the Criminal Code says, which I have included.  Sections 718.1 and 718.2 
all came about as a result of the sentencing commission, Dobney, the Green Paper 
and so on.  

As a result, when I keep seeing these things come up, I think of a line from Doris Lessing's African Laughter:  Four Visits to Zimbabwe
 where she says there is no one more furiously cynical than an idealist betrayed
.  Thank you.

The Chair:  Thank you.  I gather that a reason your initial submission bounced back was because it was so large.  Perhaps you could break it into more digestible chunks.

Mr. Conroy:  I will.

The Chair:  We would be happy to append it or classify it as exhibits.

Mr. Conroy:  I did not address Bill C‑15 specifically.  Could I do that before you take questions?

The Chair:  Yes. 

Mr. Conroy:  I did not figure this out until I was on the plane.  One of your sections will result in a person who has one plant in a rental accommodation getting a nine-month minimum sentence.  I hope everyone realizes that.  I hope you have read the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in Smith
 where one joint brought into the country resulted in the seven-year mandatory minimum sentence being struck down.  

The import issue that came up earlier was go ahead; pass the bill; we will deal with it in the courts where you will have independent judgment that will measure these bills against the Constitution.  I read the citizenship piece that the government put out the other day and it referred to us as a parliamentary democracy.  In 1982, we became a constitutional democracy.

Everything that you do will be measured against the Constitution.  I have included in my materials the case of Caine and Malmo‑Lavigne
, which was the Supreme Court of Canada test case on marijuana prohibition.  I acted for Caine.  It is a good example of the courts not intruding into the policy realm, whereas, in this instance legislators are attempting to intrude into the judicial realm.  I have also included the VANDU and Portland Hotel Society case 
involving Insite,
 the safe injection site.  I acted for VANDU, the Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users
.  

I can see through this legislation that all the dealers will be addict dealers ‑‑ many of them already are ‑‑ so they can go into drug treatment to avoid the mandatory minimum sentence.  There is no treatment for dealers that I know of.  There is not a single program in the Correctional Service of Canada for dealers.  They sit there waiting for their conditional release dates hoping they will get a board that will see that they are really to go.

My experience in terms of the safe injection site was quite eye-opening.  I had not much experience with addicts and dealers in relation to those types of drugs.  We have argued the case in front of the Court of Appeal; we are awaiting a decision.  The court below found that sections four and five of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act are unconstitutional.  It has suspended that declaration for a period of time.  It is ongoing as long as the appeal is outstanding.

We learnt that the law causes the grossly disproportionate effects.  For someone who has become an addict, deterrence has failed.  He has become an addict to heroin, crack cocaine, cocaine, or whatever it might be.  When the addict goes into the alleyway to shoot up, he or she does it out of a fear of law enforcement coming and taking their drugs or their rigs away.  When they shoot up quickly, miss their veins, get abscesses and so on, it is because of the fear of looking over their shoulder for law enforcement.  Then they go off and have sex with other people in society and spread hepatitis C.  

The fear of the law is causing the very harms that many of you think these types of laws will prevent.  It is having exactly the opposite effect.  You need to take that into account when you come up with these ideas.  I am glad that you are able to speak to some people who work in the field on a daily basis.

The Chair:  Thank you.  In the material you are sending to us, if references to court decisions are available on the Web, all you have to give us is the Web reference.   

Senator Nolin:  Mr. Conroy referred to a document that will be used for the committee tomorrow.  We will hear Mr. Parent from the Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse.  Probably Mr. Parent will bring that document with him, but in case he does not, it would be appropriate to have your document tonight.

The Chair:  Do you have a copy with you?

Senator Nolin:  I think you have it there.

Mr. Conroy:  I have a marked up copy.  I can easily get one emailed to you tomorrow.

Senator Nolin:  We are not in court, so the witness will not be influenced by the marks of the lawyer.

We had Mr. Fassbender appear recently.  He spoke about parasites and the problem in the cities.  He is the mayor of Langley, British Columbia
.  That is in your area of expertise, Mr. Conroy.

Mr. Conroy:  They have a bylaw.

Senator Nolin:  Exactly.  When you referred to that bylaw, I had Mr. Fassbender in mind.  The bylaw is not the intent of my question.  I know you will have your day in court with that bylaw.  

I am concerned with the affirmation made by police officers, the mayor and the fire chief about the ramping problem
.  I am looking at Mr. Bratzer because you are from Victoria.

Mr. Bratzer:  Yes, sir.

Senator Nolin:  Some of us know about the importance of the medical marijuana organizations in both Victoria and Vancouver.  How dangerous is that culture of the grow operations for medical marijuana in Victoria?  Mr. Conroy may want to interject.

Mr. Bratzer:  As I mentioned, I have been a police officer for four years.  Oddly enough, the Vancouver Island Compassion Society 
‑‑ 

Senator Nolin:  Which is the compassion club of Victoria.

Mr. Bratzer:  That is right.  They provide medical marijuana.  They are only a few blocks away from my police station.  Oddly enough, I did not even know where they were located until I got involved in drug policy reform.  I have never heard of any public complaints against this organization or anything like that. They do not seem to cause any problems at all.  I know that some police officers do resent their presence, but that is law enforcement, it is not the community.

Senator Nolin:  My question is more specifically addressed to you because we were told it is dangerous.  They are causing a problem to the surrounding society.  When you look at Bill C‑15, the way it is written, you can understand that the bill is referring to that kind of environment that the bylaw is trying to prevent.  It is dangerous.  

I know that in Victoria, the VICS did not start last week; it started many years ago.  They have many members.  The cannabis used in that compassion club is growing somewhere around Victoria.  I want to know if it is dangerous.

Mr. Bratzer:  No, I would suggest it is not dangerous.  If it is grown over a period of time, it was because there was a need for medicine marijuana that was not being met.  In terms of the actual patients of the VICS causing problems or committing crimes to get medical marijuana, I have not witnessed that.  In my opinion, it is almost a non‑issue.  When I think about problematic drug use in our society, the VICS and medical marijuana is at the very bottom of the list.

Senator Nolin:  Mr. Conroy, I know you are anxious to answer because I know you represented one of the growers of the VICS.  Do you want to add to that and inform the committee about that? 

Mr. Conroy:  When they are talking about dangerousness, they are talking about them not having been properly electrically certified, problems of potential mould, those sorts of things and concerns, if they are in a residential community about drug rip-offs.  However, it is prohibition that has driven people into residential communities and into basements in order to do this stuff.  If you get rid of prohibition and you regulate the market, as you regulate many other things, you then can have all bylaws apply and have them grow in industrial areas or areas where agriculture is permitted, or whatever, to get them out of the residential communities.  So long as it is prohibited and it is black market, people hide and try to do things.  They do not go to building inspectors and so on.

I have had a number of medical cases where the people, one in Langley just a few weeks ago, have this warehouse and they would be doing storage.  He did not say he was licenced.  He is a man in a wheelchair who has a medical marijuana exemption federally.  He did not want them to know that is what he was going to do for fear others would get to know and then he might be ripped off.  

He did get the electrical people, in and the fire and safety people.  It was the fire and safety people he had to inform of his medical marijuana exemption and explain what he was doing there and why.  He had it all properly approved, but as soon as he told the fire safety people, then that of course got to the building inspector who went through the roof and was insisting that he was doing all sorts of unlawful stuff, when he was doing all of the things they say the medical growers do not do.  

He was in an industrial area, he had it electrically certified, he then contacted the fire people and then there was the big fuss from the building inspector and now we are worried that all sorts of other people know about it so he is at risk because they figured it out.

I have had others where I have phoned the public safety inspection team and told them there are people who have a medical grow in their basement, their kids do not even know about it, they do not want anyone to know about it, put it on your encrypted list so your team does not show up in the middle of the day and let everyone in the whole neighbourhood know that there was a medical grow here.  Do you think they could do it?  No, they screwed up and the team showed up at the door anyway.

Senator Nolin:  Just so I follow you properly, when you are talking about medical grow, are you talking about a regulated medical grow, meaning with the authorization of Health Canada?

Mr. Conroy:  That is right.  They either have a personal production licence or a designated producer's licence under the medical marijuana access regulations.  

There are huge numbers in the compassion clubs who do not have those exemptions, who have been growing for over 10 years.  The Vancouver club has in excess of 5,000 members, I believe, and so what Bill C‑15 will do to those people they are illegal but they operate in a grey area where the Vancouver police are fully aware of them.  I think a number of senators have actually been through the Vancouver club some years ago, members of Parliament have, and the police turn a blind eye because they know every person there has a letter from their doctor.  There is a diagnosis.  However, they have had problems trying to get through the medical marijuana access regulations.  The doctors have said they are willing to give a letter for that but they are not willing to support them going through the government regulation.

As soon as this bill passes the people who grow for those clubs – and they grow for more than one – the medical marijuana access regulations originally let you grow one‑for‑one and then – pardon my cynicism – the government said they could grow for two, when the whole objective in knocking down the one‑for‑one was to allow these compassion clubs to exist.  

In any event, what you will have are the people who grow and the people who supply to these medical patients will be subject to mandatory minimum sentences.  It will depend upon how much product they have on the site at any given time or the size of the particular grow op or whatever.  You will have people in wheelchairs on the nightly news complaining about this if you pass this bill. 

Senator Baker:  I wanted to congratulate the witnesses and to tell Ms. Beauchesne, never change.  I have followed you over the years on television and so on.  

I have a couple of questions.  They are technical questions relating to the bill.  The first question is this:  The report to Parliament in this bill appears to be a useless clause, after thinking about what Mr. Bratzer had said a moment ago and after thinking about you, Mr. Conroy.  You are an expert in sentencing under the CDSA, the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act.  What section 8.1 does in the report to Parliament, it says that within two years after the section comes into force a comprehensive review of the provisions and the operation of the provisions shall be made.  Then a year thereafter, some further action taken.

I notice, Mr. Conroy, that in one of your cases here – I am just using this as an example – you tell us this is the norm.  In R. v. Adam, the events took place in 2001.  In 2006 you were arguing voice identification.  It was kind of a pre‑trial argument.  That is five years and you are still into pre‑trial.  If this is the norm for serious drug offences that are being addressed by the government in this bill, Mr. Bratzer must be absolutely correct, then, that this provision of reporting to Parliament is a useless clause.

Mr. Conroy:  I agree.  Trying to assess what Parliament has done and particularly doing a cost-benefit analysis may have some value, but in two years is questionable. 

Senator Nolin:  Too soon.

Senator Baker:  Let us be certain about this now.  It is too soon for the type of offences that are being addressed in this legislation.

Mr. Conroy:  Except that, as I said earlier, he more serious offences are not being addressed by this legislation.  People are getting more time than what is in this legislation for serious offences.  Adam got five years.  His co-accused got seven.

Senator Baker:  Four and a half.

Mr. Conroy:  Thanks.  That is the problem, though, which is that the offences you are dealing with, such as a six-month sentence, a person does four months and earns two months off for good behaviour.  On a one-year sentence a person does four months and theoretically is supposed to be paroled at that stage but because of the abolition of the B.C. board they will past their eligibility date before they get paroled.  

On an 18‑month sentence you will do six.  On two years you will do six because of APR.  On three years you will do six.

Senator Baker:  Mr. Conroy, with the charges that you will be addressing in court, the sentencing provisions here that we are talking about comes at the end of the process.

Mr. Conroy:  That is right.

Senator Baker:  In other words, this clause is of no use whatsoever to your review. 

Mr. Conroy:  To do it within two years, I agree.  However, at the same time, if you are looking at what has happened to not‑so‑serious cases that have been caught by this bill, there may be value in doing that.

Senator Baker:  Are you referencing the passing of one ecstasy pill?

Mr. Conroy:  Yes, or the one joint.

Senator Baker:  The one joint or the one ecstasy pill is okay for this section here.

Mr. Conroy:  The sooner you review it, the better. 

Senator Baker:  That will be fairly quick.  However, this would be useless to have as a report to Parliament for the serious drug offence that is Senator Wallace is referring to, which the government is trying to tackle here – namely all the Schedule 1 big drugs? 

Mr. Conroy:  I am acting for a man who was arrested in April.  The Crown will not have its tackle together to start the trial within the trial until next September.

Senator Baker:  We should then amend the clause.  Mr. Bratzer said to have reports in four years, seven years and ten years.  The more sensible thing would be perhaps seven years and ten years, would it not?

Mr. Conroy:  If you will be passing the bill.

Senator Baker:  I have a second question for you –

The Chair:  I have a supplementary, to which I hope will be a very brief answer.  This is based on my own profound ignorance.  Did B.C. abolish its own board?

Mr. Conroy:  Yes. 

The Chair:  What happens to the cases? 

Mr. Conroy:  The federal board has to deal with them.  The federal board cannot deal with them quickly enough.  They want four or five months' lead time because they are used to longer sentences.  They have to do them.

The Chair:  I am relating back to what the head of the Correctional Service of Canada told us about how they are increasing their budget for parole.  However, some of it will obviously get eaten up by all of this.

Senator Baker:  Madam Chair, I thought you had given instructions to stick to provisions of the bill in my questions.

The Chair:  Senator Baker, I stand corrected.  I was taking you as a model, but there you are.

Senator Baker:  We have had witnesses before this committee, Mr. Conroy, who have said over and over that the judges in British Columbia are soft on crime compared to the judges in the rest of Canada.  It has been said that they do not follow the sentences given out in the rest of Canada and that they are lenient in the area of giving sentences for those people convicted around the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act.

What is your response to that?

Mr. Conroy:  That has not been my experience.  I remember that being said in the media a year or so ago, and it is my recollection that a study was then brought out which showed the exact opposite; it showed the judges in British Columbia were not the softest judges.  The judges in other provinces –

Senator Nolin:  Do you have the name of that study, please?

The Chair:  Do you have that study, Mr. Conroy?

Mr. Conroy:  I do not have it.  I remember reading about it.  We should be able to obtain a copy from the Chief Justice.

Senator Baker:  You are the expert here.  We have looked at your case law.  We know you have this well‑rounded experience in sentencing.  Sometimes you refer to cases in Newfoundland, do you not?  Sometimes you refer to cases in Nova Scotia, in Quebec and right across the nation.  You do it in order to establish some grounds for your argument on sentencing. 

Mr. Conroy:  Exactly.

Senator Baker:  Therefore, this idea that somehow a province is ignoring the national standard, or the standards dictated by the Criminal Code for similar offences, is kind of nonsense, is it not?

Mr. Conroy:  It is nonsense.  The courts of appeal of our province tell us what the ranges will be for particular sentences.  It is the courts of appeal that look at what other courts of appeal do.

The Supreme Court of Canada does not get involved very often.  However, once in a while it gets involved in a sentencing or sentencing type issue.  Smith is an example of that.

We have to look at the court of appeal and what they are saying and often try to argue that this is an exceptional case that should be treated differently and not according to the range set out by the court.

Senator Baker:  I have one final question.  We could be here all night questioning you.  In Eastern Canada, we think voice identification is a search.  In B.C., you do not, I noticed.

Mr. Conroy:  I think we argued that it was but we did not succeed.

Senator Baker:  That is right.

We had a lady here who was Director of Policy for I think the Department of Justice who kept referring to the trafficking provisions as commercial trafficking.  Do you recall that?

Senator Joyal:  Yes.

Senator Baker:  She repeated it over and over and over.  She said this bill will address commercial trafficking.  We talked about it after, and we were trying to figure out what commercial trafficking is.

We went back to the case law, and we discovered that in Alberta and, to some extent, in some of the western provinces – but predominantly Alberta – there was a distinction made in trafficking between trafficking, commercial trafficking and wholesale trafficking.  At the top of the list was wholesale trafficking.

In trying to address the problem some of us have with this bill regarding the passing of one ecstasy pill, am I correct in saying this brings in the reverse onus provisions?

Mr. Conroy:  Yes.

Senator Baker:  It leads to not being able to get rid of your indictable offence record for six years, is it not?  

How do we overcome all of these consequences?  How do we amend the bill to not allow these transactions of one pill or one joint – not given for commercial purposes but given from one person to another – so that person does not come under a life in prison section of the code?  How do we amend the bill?

Do we introduce in the bill something that talks about commercial trafficking versus wholesale trafficking versus trafficking, or do we just look at the definition of "trafficking," in your opinion, and remove "give" or "pass to" or "hold"? 

Mr. Conroy:  I think one of the previous witnesses addressed it and I agreed with them.  Amending the definition of "trafficking" is one of the ways to try to grapple with that because giving is trafficking under the legal definition of it.  If you create all these other categories, which is one of my criticisms of this existing bill, people will grow more in different places.  If you think the demand will go away, it will not happen.

Senator Baker:  Mr. Conroy, in conclusion, do you not think, though, it is grossly unfair that a person receives a minimum of one year in jail for the passing of one ecstasy pill at a rave, if that person has been convicted of a declared offence in the previous 10 years of passing a joint because it is a designated offence?  Something must be done by this sober second thought committee of the Senate to try to correct it.

Mr. Conroy:  Read Smith and the Supreme Court of Canada.

Senator Baker:  I have read Smith.  What is the amendment?

Mr. Conroy:  It says if you bring one joint across the border, you get mandatory minimum of seven years.  Smith got 10 years because he brought up a lot more, but the court pointed out that the sentence for seven years for one joint is grossly disproportionate.

That is what you are faced with.  What you are doing here will be looked at in the courts and the courts will assess, in each case, whether the mandatory minimum is grossly disproportionate to the circumstances. 

Senator Baker:  Therefore, you think it will be struck down, anyway?

Mr. Conroy:  Yes.

The Chair:  Senator Nolin has a short supplementary. 

At this time, I will remind colleagues that the translators, stenographers and other staff have now been working for more than an hour longer than they were originally asked to work.

Senator Nolin:  Can we ask all the witnesses if they want to write us more?

The Chair:  Absolutely.

Senator Nolin:  Mr. Conroy, I have a supplementary question regarding the bill.  If you have it in front of you, it deals with importation.  I want to go back to that Smith case.  It is clause 2
 of the bill, and it deals with section 6 of the CDSA.

I just want to ensure the committee understands you perfectly.  One joint at the border, because it is less than one kilo, will automatically trigger, without argument, one year in prison, is that right?  Is that your reading of the bill?

Mr. Conroy:  Yes.

Senator Nolin:  Good.  Thank you.

Senator Angus:  It will if it is prosecuted.

Mr. Conroy:  Again, that is one of the problems with mandatory minimums.  We will make all kinds of deals with the Crown in order to avoid that.  Again, if you read the chapter from the sentencing commission, it deals with that, namely, how judges will try to avoid these mandatory minimums in unjust cases.  Crown prosecutors will realize that they are unjust and will make deals with the defence and will charge some other offence to get around them.  We do not just stop when you pass these types of bills.  Life goes on.  We have clients to represent.  In our view, sending them to a federal prison or to even a provincial prison does not make any sense.  

If you really want to deal with the drug issue, it is a health issue primarily.  Marijuana, sure, put it in the LCBs, or whatever.  If you are talking about heroin, cocaine, crystal meth, all these sorts of things, they are health issues.  You want to stop this business of the addict not going to see a doctor because he is looking over his shoulder and worrying about the police.  You want them to get health care.  When they go to the safe injection site, a nurse watches them and knows whether they are under the influence of something else and whether or not they will overdose and can prevent them from overdosing.  They talk to them.  They see that they have these abscesses and they give them primary health care that they have not sought because they are worried that they will get busted if they see their doctor or ask for health care.  That is what you have to stop.  You have to take these people, many of whom are mentally ill and are self‑medicating; many of whom are suffering in one way or another – and, they are often homeless and these sorts of things ‑‑ and get them so that they start getting help for their problem instead of being treated as criminals and being sent off to institutions that cannot deal with them in any event.  

Under the current regime of what is going on in the prisons, it is ridiculous.  Most of my clients are not getting their programs prior to their eligibility dates.  I think Mr. Jones said that the situation is not funded and things are not going in accordance with what the Corrections and Conditional Release Act says.  It is just not happening.

Senator Joyal:  My question follows up on that situation.  You have been raising the issue of the constitutionality of the bill in relation to one joint or one ecstasy pill.  I want to bring you back to your presentation whereby you mention that we live in a constitutional democracy.  I want to bring you back to section 12 of the Charter.  I will read it to you.  

Mr. Conroy:  Section 12 of the Charter?

Senator Joyal:  Yes.  My question is also addressed to Ms. Beauchesne.  Section 12 states that "Everyone has the right not to be subjected to any cruel and unusual treatment or punishment."

We heard from Mr. Sapers of the Office of the Correctional Investigator, and we have heard about the dire situation under which the Aboriginal population of Canada find themselves in prisons.  We heard from Professor Kerr, from the BC Centre for Excellence in HIV/AIDS, who told us how HIV has reached peak levels in the last five years.  There has been a 35 per cent increase over the past five years, and 21 per cent of HIV infections among drug users in Vancouver may have been acquired in prison.  

If we increase the level of the inmate population of Aboriginal origin, the way that Mr. Sapers, the correctional officer, told us today, are we not consciously sending those people to their death?

Mr. Conroy:  It seems like it to me.

Senator Joyal:  Could we not challenge the constitutionality of those provisions on the basis that when you take someone to prison who is addicted and suffers from a health problem, the government has a responsibility to bring to that person a minimum of treatment to ensure that the integrity of the health and the life of that person are protected?  

I was listening to the witnesses we had earlier and I thought, "If we are a constitutional democracy, there is protection in the system somewhere for a situation that we know consciously would bring those people to dire health situations." That is, a situation that Ms. Beauchesne described and that you will understand could find itself challenged under section 12 of the Charter.

Mr. Conroy:  Yes, or section 7, "grossly disproportionate in its effects."  “Arbitrariness, overbreath and gross disproportionality in effects” are grounds under section 7 for challenging the constitutionality of a law.  That is what the judge found in relation to sections 4 and 5 in conjunction with the safe injection site.  

Section 12 is a similar test of gross disproportionality.  Section 7 is a broader test.  It is not that hard to establish that what is going on is cruel.  It is harder to establish that it is unusual.  Many of these things go on all the time and you need both.

Did you know that they banned tobacco in the federal prisons?

Senator Joyal:  Yes, I did.

Mr. Conroy:  Did you know that it used to be $1 for a cigarette and it is now $10?  Did you know that the bale of tobacco that has been one of the main things in prisons has gone up to $300 and that they are shipping people to maximum security because they are involved in the tobacco trade?  The guards, of course, many of whom are addicted to tobacco, go out to the parking lot back and forth, all day long.  It is amazing.  You should put a camera on to see how often they are going back and forth.  Who will be subjected to corruption?  A guard who smokes tobacco comes in and sees someone suffering from the lack of a nicotine fix.  He or she will be sympathetic to that person if they are a tobacco smoker.  They realize that they can make a huge amount of money bringing in tobacco, which is not even prohibited under the criminal law.

Senator Joyal:  Let us come back to the issue here.

Mr. Conroy:  This shows the dangers of prohibition within a prison.

(French follows in 2000 ‑ Prof. Beauchesne, dans votre...)

 (après anglais)

Le sénateur Joyal : Professeure Beauchesne, dans votre présentation vous vous êtes concentrée largement sur la condition des prisonniers qui sont évidemment sujets aux difficultés que ce projet de loi va apporter. Vous-même, dans votre réflexion sur la condition des usagers des drogues dans les prisons, est-ce que vous ne croyez pas qu'on est en train de créer une situation de discrimination systémique à l'égard des populations autochtones et, en se basant sur la jurisprudence de la Cour suprême à l'égard de la discrimination systémique en principe, que ces projets de loi, eu égard aux impacts qu'ils peuvent avoir sur les populations autochtones, pourraient faire l'objet d'une contestation judiciaire sur la base de leur constitutionnalité?

Mme Beauchesne : Sur le plan de la santé, car c'était surtout l'aspect qui était considéré, lorsqu'on a discuté avec le réseau canadien VIH/sida on en est même venu à vouloir porter une accusation de négligence criminelle. Lorsque, dans les années 80, on leur disait qu'il y avait des conditions de consommation de drogue en prison qui, pour certains, nécessitait du traitement, les services correctionnels avaient tendance à nier et dire qu'il n’y avait pas de problème de drogue en prison. Lorsqu’est arrivé le sida, au milieu des années 80, c'est la santé publique qui est entrée pour dire : nous avons besoin de savoir. Lorsqu'ils ont trouvé qu'il y avait des gens qui avaient besoin de traitement, la première réaction du Service correctionnel canadien a été de dire : on n'a pas d'argent mais il n’y aura pas de drogue en prison. Ils n’ont pas trouvé d’argent pour les traitements, mais ils ont trouvé des millions pour les tests de drogue, pour les chiens surveillants, pour les portes bioniques, et cetera. Ils trouvent de l'argent pour le contrôle, mais pas d'argent pour le traitement. Je pense qu'il y a des choix ici qui relèvent, dans ce sens, de négligence criminelle envers les détenus.

Le sénateur Joyal : Il y a une population davantage visée que toute autre, c'est la population autochtone. 

Mme Beauchesne : Je serais portée à dire les populations défavorisées au point de vue socioéconomique. Les Autochtones en font partie, mais ce sont les gens plus pauvres. Dans le marché des drogues, en prison, ceux qui font le trafic ne sont pas ceux qui ont les liens avec l'extérieur ; c'est celui qui a besoin d'argent pour sa famille – car on oublie que, souvent, lorsqu'on punit une personne, on punit sa famille. C'est lui qu'on va envoyer chercher le matériel, faire les livraisons ; et quand quelqu'un se fait prendre en prison, c'est encore celui qui est le paumé. Il y a des gens qui ont besoin de soins.

Les toxicomanes sont souvent ceux qui sont le plus utilisés, et pas uniquement pour les drogues, ils sont utilisés pour faire toute sorte de trafic en dedans, en échange, parce qu'ils n'ont pas les moyens d'avoir leur drogue.

Mais le traitement serait beaucoup plus utile que d'investir davantage dans les contrôles. Ce sont donc les Autochtones, oui, mais en même temps, appelons un chat un chat, ce sont les pauvres. Et les Autochtones en constituent une grande partie.

(Sen. Joyal: The last two recommendations …)

(anglais suit)

 (Following French ‑‑ Ms. Beauchesne ‑‑ une grand partie.)

Senator Joyal:  The last two recommendations of Mr. Jones' brief need to be brought into the minutes of this committee, because they deal with clause 8
.2, which Mr. Bratzer referred to.

Mr. Jones recommended that the committee ask the Parliamentary Budget Officer to expedite a cost‑benefit analysis of the projected fiscal implication for provincial justice -- including legal aid -- and correctional systems of the effects of mandatory minimum sentences in Bill C‑15, and to publish this analysis in full.

Mr. Jones’ last recommendation is for the committee to mandate a cost‑benefit analysis by the Parliamentary Budget Officer of the projected crime reduction outcomes of mandatory sentences as envisioned by Bill C‑15 no later than 2012 and to publish this evaluation in full.

I think this is an element that we should keep in mind when we address clause 8
 of this bill.  In relation to what Mr. Bratzer said, we should extend that analysis for a longer period in order to capture all the implications of the implementation of this bill in relation to its cost‑benefit analysis.

The Chair:  When I read the second‑last recommendation about the effect on provincial systems and finances, I made a mental note that we should check the mandate of the Parliamentary Budget Officer.  I do not know whether he can actually do that.  I will ask our esteemed researchers to let us know, maybe next week, if the mandate seems to be broad enough to encompass that kind of inquiry.

I had one question, which I will ask you to respond to in writing.  If you could do so as rapidly as possible, that would be greatly appreciated, because we are coming down to the wire in our study of this bill.

My question has to do with the section requiring a minimum punishment of imprisonment if the offence was committed in or near a public place usually frequented by persons under the age of 18 years.

What I have been puzzling around in my mind ever since we started looking at this bill was how realistically one would interpret that in a useful manner, in that most any public place, other than perhaps a bar, but a bus stop, a shopping centre or a public street would be a public place normally frequented.

I will ask for a response in writing ‑‑ and indeed from all of you, from your different perspectives ‑‑ on what your opinion is of that provision.  That is section 1.  It is at the top of page 2 of the bill and it is
 (ii)(a).   

Mr. Conroy:  The case law on section 161 of the Criminal Code might assist you to some extent in that regard.

Senator Nolin:  I have a question for which you can provide the answer in writing.  My question concerns amending the bill to give the judge some kind of discretion, which already exists, by the way.  Section
 10, paragraph 3 of the CDSA gives the judge authority.  That is the section I read to Ms. Joncas earlier.

Mr. Conroy:  The purpose of sentencing.

Senator Nolin:  Exactly.  If we want to give the judge the authority to not impose a sentence, for a variety of good reasons, what about section 730 of the Criminal Code, which deals with conditional sentencing?

Mr. Conroy:  They will be removed.  When you put the maximum higher than ten years, I think it is, when you increase these maximums to life and 14
, discharges are no longer available.

Senator Nolin:  We will do like in section
 255, say “notwithstanding section 730”?  You do not need to give the answer now, but please give us an answer in writing before December 3.

The Chair:  Preferably before December 2, so we have time to think about it.

Senator Nolin:  If we are to amend this bill, we want to make sure the judge has all the options open to do what he or she thinks is in order to do, including conditional sentences, even though there are minimum sentences in the bill.  That is the problem with section 730.

Mr. Conroy:  You have to create an exception to the minimums.

Senator Nolin:  Section 255 of the Criminal Code is a good example.  That is why I am raising the question.

Senator Baker:  Section 255 is the entry of the previous report.  Section 255, you said?  Section 255 is the impaired driving section.

The Chair:  Colleagues, this gets to be such fun, it really does, but at some point we have to call a halt.

We will look forward to your responses.  They do not have to be encyclopedic.  Rapid, rather than encyclopedic, would be greatly appreciated.  We are extremely grateful to all of you, as usual.

(French follows ‑‑ The Chair continuing ‑‑ Nous attendrons avec intérêt...)

(après anglais)(La présidente)

Nous attendrons avec intérêt vos réponses écrites aux questions qu'on vous a posées à la fin. 

Honorables sénateurs, on se revoit demain matin à 10 h 45.

La séance est levée. 
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